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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer’s Report

On behalf of the Board of Directors and management of Bahrain Middle East Bank BSC (“BMB” or the 
“Bank”) we are pleased to submit the Annual Report and accompanying Financial Statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2013.

2013 was a challenging year for BMB. In April 2013, the Board of Directors became aware that the 
Bank had potentially been the subject of a major fraud. The then Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial 
Officer and a number of other senior staff at BMB were immediately suspended and the Board of 
Directors commissioned urgent internal and external investigations into the activities of the Bank and 
the then management team.  These investigations uncovered a number of serious potentially criminal 
activities including the apparent misappropriation of significant funds.  As a result a number of senior 
executives, including the then Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, were dismissed. Official 
investigations relevant to these executives remain ongoing. 

Mr. Ritchie Skelding was appointed Chief Executive Officer of BMB in April 2013 to protect the interests 
of shareholders and to take all necessary actions to deal with the matters identified in the investigations.

As a result of prompt and decisive action substantially all misappropriated funds have been recovered by 
BMB.  However, given the serious nature and magnitude of what took place, BMB has instigated criminal 
and civil legal proceedings against a number of parties.  These matters are currently being investigated 
by the appropriate legal authorities in the Kingdom of Bahrain.

Improved Risk Management and Strengthening of Controls

In order to ensure that there will be no repetition of the experience of 2013, a full review has been 
carried out of BMB’s business activities, controls and reporting systems. A number of actions have 
been taken throughout the Bank to materially strengthen the compliance function, financial reporting, 
operational and risk management controls and procedures.  All systems for internal reporting have been 
reviewed and have been largely automated. The process for external reporting to all stakeholders and 
regulators has been fully reviewed and updated to ensure accurate, complete and timely compliance 
with reporting requirements. An important element of this process has been to evaluate the way in which 
BMB communicates with its customers and with investors who have funds and investments which are 
administered by BMB.  In close co-operation with a number of our key customers and investors this 
communication process has been materially enhanced.

During the review of BMB’s business and risk management procedures it became clear that the transaction 
documentation for a number of key financing facilities with BMB customers was incomplete.  We would 
like to take this opportunity to thank our customers for working with BMB in a constructive manner during 
2013 to remedy these documentary deficiencies.

Throughout 2013 the Board and management carried out a full review of all external contractors, legal 
and professional advisers to the Bank.  This has led to a number of changes and corrective measures and 
the application of a more rigorous approach to selecting and measuring the performance of third party 
contractors. BDO’s contract to act as Internal Auditor of BMB was terminated in May 2013.  In September 
2013, EY was appointed to replace KPMG as External Auditor of the Bank.

The enhancement of BMB’s risk management and business controls has involved a significant investment 
in Information Technology.  All of BMB’s key data is now backed up both physically and on the Cloud and 
a number of key procedures and reporting systems within the Bank have been automated.  This process 
of essential investment will continue in 2014 as controls and reporting structures are strengthened further.

Business Restructuring

In order to ensure enhanced risk management, all proprietary trading by BMB was halted in April 2013 
and all BMB open positions were liquidated.  These positions comprised largely of holdings in North 
American and European securities. While the Bank continues to contemplate and invest in selected 
investment opportunities within the Gulf region, given the size and nature of BMB’s business there are no 
plans for further proprietary trading activity in North American or European securities.
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In order to further manage risk and maintain focus as we move to strengthen the financial position and 
reputation of the Bank, BMB’s business has been simplified and is now concentrated on Trade Finance, 
Digital Media and e-commerce.  These are areas where BMB and its major stakeholders have effective 
control systems in place, proven expertise and a strong market presence.

In October 2013 a number of staff redundancies were unfortunately necessary and a number of 
departments were restructured in order to align the cost base and human resources of BMB with its 
business and risk management needs.

2013 Financial Results

While substantially all funds misappropriated have been recovered, BMB’s investigations uncovered 
information pertaining to significant previously hidden losses and other items which had been concealed 
from the Board and which resulted in previously incomplete and inaccurate reporting of BMB’s financial 
position.  It has become clear that BMB’s Total Assets and Total Liabilities have previously been materially 
understated.  Furthermore, certain Equity Fund Investments by BMB, on which significant value had been 
lost, were previously not accurately reflected in BMB’s financial statements.  These items have now been 
fully reviewed and, together with appropriate impairment charges, have been included in the financial 
statements of the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2013.  Corresponding figures reported for 2012 
were not restated as key information was not available at the date of approval of consolidated financial 
statements of 2012.  

As a result of addressing these matters, for the financial year to 31 December 2013 BMB has incurred 
largely one-off, non-recurring provisions and charges in an aggregate amount of US$10.30 million.  
Accordingly, while the Bank has reported a Profit Before Impairment Provisions for 2013 of US$5.64 
million (2012: US$2.74 million),   BMB has reported a Net Loss for the year of US$4.66 million (2012: 
Profit of US$2.19 million). As at 31 December 2013, the Total Equity of BMB stood at US$28.70 million, 
compared with the previously reported US$30.45 million at 31 December 2012.

On a more positive note, following the recovery of the misappropriated funds and other remedial actions 
taken post April 2013, BMB closed 2013 with Total Assets of US$169.50 million (31 December 2012: 
US$55.27 million) and Cash and Liquid Assets of US$47.13 million (31 December 2012: US$6.76 million). 
In addition to the above, BMB had US$91.92 million (31 December 2012: US$13.16 million) in loans and 
advances which mature within 180 days and which thus also form part of the Bank’s total liquidity. The 
Bank’s capital adequacy ratio was 15.62% at 31 December 2013, well in excess of the Central Bank of 
Bahrain’s minimum requirement of 12%.  

BMB’s exposure to legacy Equity Fund Investments reduced to US$16.49 million as at 31 December 
2013 compared to US$21.50 million as at 31 December 2012. The portfolio of Equity Fund Investments 
comprises a large number of holdings, in a variety of equity funds and is geographically diverse. The 
status and value of BMB’s legacy exposure to Equity Fund Investments is under constant review as the 
Bank seeks to exit these investments over time and to release capital for more effective deployment. 
Future reported earnings of BMB will remain subject to the impact of the performance of this portfolio of 
Equity Fund Investments, however this is expected to reduce over time as these investments are wound 
down and mature.

In July and August 2013 BMB renegotiated, reduced the cost of and accelerated the repayment of its 
external borrowings which stood at an aggregate US$5.00 million at 31 December 2013 (US$11.40 million 
at 31 December 2012).  These borrowings are scheduled to be fully repaid during 2014.
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Current Position and 2014 Outlook

While 2013 was a difficult year for BMB, the loss reported for 2013 arose largely due to one off costs 
incurred due to matters which are now the subject of various criminal and civil legal proceedings. Based 
on our analysis to date, together with support from our external advisers, all legacy matters relating to 
prior year activities have been quantified, dealt with and accurately reported.  While significant progress 
has been made in improving financial and operational controls within the Bank this remains an ongoing 
process. During 2013 BMB’s business has been simplified.  The organisational structure and cost base 
of the Bank have been streamlined and aligned to the needs of the business.  As a result of these actions 
the underlying operating performance of BMB as we enter 2014 is sound and cash generative.  The key 
focus for management and the Board during 2014 will be to build on the remedial steps taken to date, to 
continue to manage risk and liquidity effectively and to position BMB to deliver sustainable earnings over 
the medium-term.  While BMB remains subject to external economic and political events, the Bank enters 
2014 on a more stable footing than has been the case for many years.

We would like to take this opportunity to thank our stakeholders, regulators, employees and business 
partners for their support while we have dealt with the many challenges faced by BMB in 2013.

Wilson Benjamin       Ritchie Skelding
Chairman of the Board of Directors     Chief Executive Officer
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Board of Directors and Committees
Board of Directors
Mr. Wilson S. Benjamin        Chairman  
Sheikh Abdullah A. Al Sabah       Vice Chairman
Mr. Ebrahim A.S. Bu Hendi       Director
Dr. Awadh Kh. Al-Enezi        Director
Mr. Karunaker Nampalli        Director

Executive Committee
Sheikh Abdullah A. Al Sabah       Chairman
Mr. Wilson S. Benjamin        Vice Chairman

Audit Committee & Corporate
Governance Committee
Mr. Ebrahim A. S. Bu Hendi       Chairman
Dr. Awadh Kh. Al-Enezi        Vice Chairman
Mr. Karunaker Nampalli        Member

Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee
Dr. Awadh Kh. Al-Enezi        Chairman
Mr. Ebrahim A. S. Bu Hendi       Vice Chairman
Sheikh Abdullah A. Al Sabah       Member

Board of Directors
Mr. Wilson S. Benjamin 
Chairman, Board of Directors – Executive Director
Vice Chairman, Executive Committee 

Prior to his election as Chairman of the Board of BMB in March 2006, Mr. 
Benjamin was the Vice Chairman of the Bank. Since 1992, he has been the 
President and Chief Executive Officer of Al Fawares Holding Company, where he 
is responsible for Al Fawares investments and participation in the management 
of certain of its portfolio companies. Mr. Benjamin is also the Chairman of the 
Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of ATO Ram 2 Ltd., where he 
is responsible for managing ATO’s operations and its investments in public 
and private companies in the United States, Europe and the Gulf Cooperation 
Council.  Mr. Benjamin received a B.Sc. in Business Administration from Al-
Hikma University in Baghdad, Iraq. 

Sheikh Abdullah A. Al Sabah 
Vice Chairman, Board of Directors – Executive Director
Chairman, Executive Committee
Member, Nomination & Remuneration Committee

Prior to his election as Vice Chairman in March 2006, Sheikh Abdullah was a 
member of the Board of Directors. He is the Chairman & Managing Director of 
Al Fawares Holding for Financial Investments in Egypt, Chairman of Universal 
Food, Chief Executive Officer of Universal Media and the Joint-CEO of Tawseel 
eCommerce Group in Kuwait. He also serves on the Boards of many other 
companies in Kuwait, Egypt and the U.S. He has a Bachelor’s in Engineering 
and a Master’s in Finance from The George Washington University. 
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Mr. Ebrahim A. S. Bu Hendi  
Director, Board of Directors – Independent Director
Chairman, Audit Committee & Corporate Governance Committee
Vice Chairman, Nomination & Remuneration Committee

Mr. Bu Hendi has over thirty years of banking and treasury experience gained 
through working with CitiBank, Chase Manhattan, Paribas and National 
Commercial Bank, Saudi Arabia. The last ten years were at Bank of Bahrain & 
Kuwait as AGM – Treasury, Investment and overseas branches. He has been 
Board Member and Chairman of the Audit Committee of Bahrain Commercial 
Facilities Company since March 2007. Mr. Bu Hendi has an MBA from Sheffield 
Hallam University, U.K. 

Prof. Awadh Kh. Al-Enezi  
Director, Board of Directors – Independent Director
Vice Chairman, Audit Committee & Corporate Governance Committee
Chairman, Nomination & Remuneration Committee

Prof. Al-Enezi is a PhD graduate of Bath University, U.K. in 1991 and the 
University of New York in 1993. He is presently a lecturer at the University of 
Kuwait and is Cultural Attaché at the Embassy of the State of Kuwait in Cairo. 
A recipient of numerous awards, he has published several papers dealing with 
the socio-economic culture in Kuwait. He is an active Board member of several 
institutions. 

Mr. Karunaker Nampalli   
Director, Board of Directors – Executive Director
Member of the Audit Committee & Corporate Governance Committee

Mr. Nampalli has thirty-two years of banking experience in India and the GCC, 
in operations, trade finance, project finance, corporate banking, credit and client 
relationship management, including most recent positions at Burgan Bank and 
Kuwait International Bank in Kuwait.  During his career he has been active in 
staff training, both in terms of preparing manuals and reference materials for 
training, as well as conducting seminars. Mr. Nampalli is a graduate of Osmania 
University and holds a Post Graduate Diploma of Export-Import Management 
from Bharatiya Vidya Bhavan, New Delhi. He is also a Certified Associate of 
the Indian Institute of Bankers.  Mr. Nampalli is serving at Al Fawares Holding 
Company as Finance Controller since April 2006.
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Senior Management Profile
Mr. Ritchie Skelding
Chief Executive Officer
Member of the Executive Management Committee

Mr. Skelding joined BMB as Chief Executive Officer in April 2013. He has extensive international experience 
in investment and commercial banking and a proven track record in delivering value for shareholders.

Prior to joining BMB, Mr. Skelding was Chief Financial Officer of Al Fawares Holding KSC (c). Mr. 
Skelding has previously held executive positions with Spectrum Capital Limited as Director and Senior 
Vice President and at The Long-Term Credit Bank of Japan, Ltd, (London Branch) where he was Vice 
President, Head of Corporate Banking. He began his career at Hill Samuel Merchant Bank.

Mr. Skelding graduated from the University of Durham in 1986. He holds the City Financial Diploma 
(Honours) and The Securities Institute Certificate of Corporate Finance. Mr. Skelding is a member of the 
Royal Aeronautical Society, a Freeman of The Guild of Air Pilots and Air Navigators, and a member of the 
Aviation Club of Great Britain. He is a Director of a number of companies in the USA, the UK and Middle 
East.

Mr. Gaurav Baid
Chief Financial Officer
Member of the Executive Management Committee

Mr. Baid joined BMB as Chief Financial Officer in October 2013. He has over 12 years of diversified 
experience in consulting and industry experience in financial services in the Kingdom of Bahrain. He is a 
Qualified Chartered Accountant and Associate Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 
 
He has previously served as a Senior Manager at Ernst & Young, Bahrain, with primary focus on audit 
of key investment and commercial banks.  His work in India covered advisory and assurance services in 
manufacturing, trading and service industries.

Mr. Raza Shah Kakakhail
Head of Operations
Member of the Executive Management Committee

Mr. Shah joined BMB in June 2010 and has over 15 years of combined experience across both commercial 
and investment banking including banking operations, business expansion, treasury, trade finance, islamic 
banking, corporate finance and client relationship management. Previously, Mr. Shah was employed at 
Bank Alfalah Limited as Country Head Afghanistan and MCB Bank Ltd., Pakistan in various managerial 
level capacities.

Mr. Shah holds a Master’s Degree in Public Administration (Major Finance) from University of Peshawar, 
Pakistan.

Mr. Mohammed Al Shaikh
Head of Human Resources

Mr. Al Shaikh joined BMB in 1983. He has over 35 years of experience in human resources, administration 
training and development of staff. He has received extensive training in HR and Banking through 
courses in the UK and in Bahrain. Prior to joining BMB, Mr. Al Shaikh worked with Aluminum Bahrain in 
the HR Department.
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Mr. Philip Morley
Head of Information Technology

Mr. Morley joined BMB in 1998. He has over 15 years of experience in the IT Industry with in-depth 
knowledge of application systems, software development, project management and IT Infrastructure 
expertise. Prior to joining BMB, Mr. Morley served as a consultant handling projects for various multinational 
organizations in India.

Mr. Mohamed Alhusaini, MICA
Acting Head of Compliance & AMLRO

Mr. Alhusaini joined BMB in 2011. He has 5 years of experience in Risk Management covering compliance, 
credit, liquidity, market and operational risks. He is a Member of the International Compliance Association 
(MICA) and a member of the PRMIA (The Professional Risk Managers International Association). He 
graduated with a Bachelors of Commerce majoring in Finance from McGill University in Montreal, Canada. 
Prior to joining BMB, Mr. Alhusaini worked with Eskan Bank, Bahrain.
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Corporate Governance Report
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1. Introduction
BMB operates under a written corporate governance framework drawn from the Corporate Governance 
Code of the Kingdom of Bahrain.  This framework explicitly states the goals, roles and responsibilities for 
its Board of Directors, management and staff, and includes well defined reporting lines and structures.  At 
the department level, the Bank employs detailed policies and procedures, segregation of duties and dual 
controls to be in conformance with the Code.

2. Framework  
The Corporate Governance Framework includes
• A Disclosure Policy;
• Code of Conduct policy for Directors;
• Code of Ethics for Management and employees;
• Insider trading policy; and
• Corporate Governance Code.

3. Board of Directors

3.1.   Responsibilities

 The Board is ultimately responsible for the governance and performance of the Bank. The Board 
discharges that responsibility by:

• Setting the strategic direction of the Bank including the identification, acceptance, monitoring and 
management of risks;

• Establishing a robust corporate governance system, which includes risk limits, internal controls, 
policies and procedures and a system to foster compliance with applicable laws and as well as 
professional standards and ethics by itself and Bank staff and monitoring the same for implementation;

• Reviewing its own and the Bank management’s performance; and
• Preparation and reporting of the Bank’s financial results in a fair and transparent manner.

3.2.  Structure and composition

In accordance with the Bank’s Articles of Association, the Board is elected by the Bank’s Shareholders. 
The current composition of the Board is five Directors, with over one third being Independent Directors. 
Collectively, the Board possesses knowledge, experience and skills appropriate for the Bank.

The Board considers that there is an appropriate balance of Executive and Independent Directors on the 
Board and that the current Board composition is appropriate. However, based on recommendations from 
the CBB, the Board is planning to expand the number of independent directors during 2014.

The roles and responsibilities of the Chairman and the CEO are separate from one another.

The Chairman’s main responsibilities are:
• To lead the Board and ensure the effective engagement and contribution of all Directors, so that the 

Board may fully discharge its legal and regulatory responsibilities;
• To ensure effective communication with shareholders and ensure that the Board members understand 

the views of the major shareholders; and
• To develop a constructive relationship with the CEO and to manage his performance.

The day-to-day management of the Bank has been delegated by the Board to the CEO. The CEO is 
responsible for the control and monitoring of the Bank’s business on a day-to-day basis, recommending 
strategy to the Board, leading senior management and implementing the Board’s strategic and operational 
decisions.

Independent Directors have the flexibility to meet prior or post the Board Meetings and to review issues 
without the presence of the other Board Members.
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3.3.    Induction and professional development

Induction programs are tailored for all newly appointed Directors. The program comprises a comprehensive 
Directors’ Handbook, meetings with other Directors and senior management, as well as comprehensive 
guidance on the duties and responsibilities of Directors, the Bank’s policies and procedures and relevant 
legal and Regulatory requirements.

3.4.    Meetings

The Board of Directors met as per the constitution of each Committee and in line with the Articles of the 
Bank and the Corporate Governance Code.  They also received information between meetings in respect 
of activities of the management committee and developments in the Bank’s business.

3.4.1.    Meetings of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors met six times during the year ended 31 December 2013 on the dates listed below:

• 27 February 2013: The meeting was attended by Mr. Wilson Benjamin, Sheikh Abdullah A. Al Sabah, 
Dr. Awadh Kh. Al-Enezi, Mr. Ebrahim A. Bu Hendi and Mr. Karunaker Nampalli.

• 8 May 2013: The meeting was attended by Mr. Wilson Benjamin, Sheikh Abdullah A. Al 
Sabah, Dr. Awadh Kh. Al-Enezi, Mr. Ebrahim A. Bu Hendi and Mr. Karunaker Nampalli.

• 30 May 2013: The meeting was attended by Sheikh Abdullah A. Al Sabah, Dr. Awadh Kh. Al-Enezi, 
Mr. Ebrahim A. Bu Hendi and Mr. Karunaker Nampalli.

• 12 June 2013: The meeting was attended by Mr. Wilson Benjamin, Sheikh Abdullah A. Al Sabah, 
Dr. Awadh Kh. Al-Enezi, Mr. Ebrahim A. Bu Hendi and Mr. Karunaker Nampalli.

• 5 August 2013: The meeting was attended by Mr. Wilson Benjamin, Sheikh Abdullah A. Al Sabah, 
Dr. Awadh Kh. Al-Enezi, Mr. Ebrahim A. Bu Hendi and Mr. Karunaker Nampalli.

• 6 November 2013: The meeting was attended by Mr. Wilson Benjamin, Sheikh Abdullah A. Al 
Sabah, Mr. Ebrahim A. Bu Hendi and Mr. Karunaker Nampalli.

3.4.2.    Meetings of the Executive Committee

The Executive Committee met four times during the year ended 31 December 2013 on the dates listed below:

• 21 January 2013: The meeting was attended by Mr. Wilson Benjamin and Sheikh Abdullah A. Al 
Sabah.

• 30 April 2013: The meeting was attended by Mr. Wilson Benjamin and Sheikh Abdullah A. Al Sabah.
• 25 July 2013: The meeting was attended by Mr. Wilson Benjamin and Sheikh Abdullah A. Al Sabah.
• 30 October 2013: The meeting was attended by Mr. Wilson Benjamin and Sheikh Abdullah A. Al 

Sabah.

3.4.3.    Meetings of the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee

The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee met five times during the year ended 31 December 
2013 on the dates listed below:

• 27 February 2013:  The meeting was attended by Mr. Ebrahim A. Bu Hendi, Dr. Awadh Kh. Al-
Enezi, and Mr. Karunaker Nampalli.

• 8 May 2013:  The meeting was attended by Mr. Ebrahim A. Bu Hendi, Dr. Awadh Kh. Al-
Enezi, and Mr. Karunaker Nampalli.

• 30 May 2013:  The  meeting  was attended by Mr. Ebrahim A. Bu Hendi, Dr. Awadh Kh. Al-Enezi, 
and Mr. Karunaker Nampalli.

• 4 August 2013:  The meeting was attended by Mr. Ebrahim A. Bu Hendi, Dr. Awadh Kh. Al-
Enezi, and Mr. Karunaker Nampalli.

• 6 November 2013:  The meeting was attended by Mr. Ebrahim A. Bu Hendi and Mr. Karunaker 
Nampalli.
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3.4.4. Meetings of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee

The Nomination & Remuneration Committee met twice during the year ended 31 December 2013 on the 
dates listed below:

• 27 February 2013: The meeting was attended by Mr. Ebrahim A. BuHendi, Sheikh Abdullah A. Al 
Sabah and Dr. Awadh Kh. Al-Enezi.

• 6 November 2013: The meeting was attended by Mr. Ebrahim A. BuHendi and Sheikh Abdullah A. 
Al Sabah.

Appointment & Re-election

The Board of Directors were re-elected at the Annual General Meeting on 30 March 2011, for a three year 
period. Their candidature was reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors for recommendation to 
Shareholders.  Pursuant to Shareholder approval, their appointments were endorsed by the Central Bank 
of Bahrain.

3.5.  Board Committees

The Board has established the following four committees to ensure that it carries out its functions and 
provides effective supervision and leadership:

• Executive Committee
• Audit Committee
• Corporate Governance Committee
• The Nomination and Remuneration Committee

 The functions of the Audit Committee and Corporate Governance Committee have been combined based 
on the activities of the Bank, with the prior approval of the Central Bank of Bahrain.

The roles and delegated authorities of these Committees are set out in their charters, copies of which are 
available at www.bmb.com.bh.  

3.5.1.  Executive Committee (“EXCO”)

The primary responsibilities and functions of EXCO are to:

• Act on behalf of the Board when practicality and expediency dictates;
• Act in limited circumstances, on emergency matters that require immediate approval or other actions 

of the Board;
• Ensure continuity in the management of the business and affairs of the Bank;
• Discuss at greater lengths various macro management aspects of the Bank, including investments, 

credit, risk and capital adequacy aspects of the Bank;
• Provide an avenue where specific issues may be explored in greater depth than may be possible 

during Board meetings; and
• Act as an advisor to the Board on various matters.

3.5.2.   Audit Committee

The primary responsibilities and functions of the Audit Committee are to provide assistance to the Board 
to fulfill its duties to ensure and oversee:

• The integrity of the Bank’s financial statements;
• The suitability, independence and performance of the Bank’s auditors (internal and external), as well 

as remuneration of the Bank’s external auditors;
• Internal controls, including controls over financial reporting and disclosure; and
• Compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.
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Generally, the role of the Audit Committee is advisory in nature, with recommendations reported to the 
Board for final approval.  However, in certain limited circumstances decisions may be taken by the Audit 
Committee, which are binding on the Board (i.e. approving the terms of engagement of the external 
auditor). The Audit Committee holds a minimum of four meetings per year and provides regular reports 
to the Board.

3.5.3.   Corporate Governance Committee

The primary responsibilities and functions of the Corporate Governance Committee are:

• To oversee the annual performance evaluation of the Board and individual Directors;
• To ensure the compliance with regulatory requirements relating to corporate governance; and
• Report on corporate governance matters to the Bank’s constituents; in particular reference to the 

Regulator and shareholders.

The role of this Committee is advisory in nature.  Recommendations, if any, are made to the Board for 
final approval.

3.5.4.   Nomination & Remuneration Committee 

The Nomination, Remuneration Committee responsibilities are:

• Identify persons qualified to become members of the Board or senior managers of the Bank (with the 
exception of the appointment of the internal auditor which is the responsibility of the Audit Committee), 
and make recommendations accordingly;

• Review the Bank’s remuneration policies for approved persons consistent with CBB guidelines, 
corporate values and strategy of the Bank;

• Make recommendations regarding remuneration policies and amounts for Approved Persons to 
the Board, taking account of total remuneration including salaries, fees, expenses and employee 
benefits;

• Recommend Board member remuneration based on their attendance and performance; and
• Oversee Directors’ corporate governance educational activities.

In determining the composition of the Board, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee considers 
the knowledge, skills and experience required by the Board. No Director participates in any decisions 
regarding his own appointment or remuneration. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is 
authorized to take certain appointment and remuneration decisions which may bind the Board. In all other 
cases, recommendations are made to the Board for their final approval.

3.6.   Conflict of interest
The Board maintains awareness of other commitments of its Directors and senior management. BMB 
implemented a Directors’ Conflict of Interest Policy which is part of the Code of Conduct - which can be 
found on the Bank’s website at www.bmb.com.bh. As at 31 December 2013, the Board was satisfied that 
other commitments of the Directors and senior management do not conflict with their duties.

3.7.   External Auditors

During the year, the Directors reviewed the contracts with all external service providers. Accordingly, the 
Shareholders in its Ordinary General Meeting held on 5 September 2013 appointed Ernst & Young as the 
external auditors of the Bank. 

The Board’s Audit Committee and Articles of Association include measures to ensure ongoing 
independence of the Bank’s external auditor. The details of audit and non-audit fees payable to the 
external auditor are available at the Bank’s corporate office.

The Bank’s external auditors, have unhindered access to the Audit Committee, Executive Committee, 
and the Board of Directors, with or without members of management being present to discuss their audit 
findings and any other matter which should be brought to the attention of the Board. 
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3.8.   Internal Control

The Board is committed to managing risk and ensuring that effective measures are in place to safeguard 
the Bank’s assets, ensure proper accounting records and reliable financial information by procedures 
designed to avoid or reduce risks and ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations. 

The Bank’s internal controls over financial reporting comprise processes designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with accounting principles.

While the Audit Committee oversees and reviews the Bank’s compliance policies and their implementation, 
the Bank’s compliance officer, acts as the focal point and is responsible for implementing, monitoring and 
ensuring compliance with regulatory and statutory requirements. Compliance with anti-money laundering 
procedures and internal training in such procedures is also monitored and implemented by the Bank’s 
compliance officer. 

The Bank’s Compliance Officer also serves as its Money Laundering Reporting Officer (“MLRO”) for 
financial crimes regulatory purposes.

3.9. Related-party transactions

Details of all transactions where a Director and/or other related parties might have potential interests are 
provided to the Board for its review and approval, and the interested Directors neither participate in the 
discussions nor vote on such matters. For details of the Bank’s related party transactions, please see 
Note 25 of the audited financial statements.

3.10. Communication with shareholders

In addition to the Bank’s extensive disclosure through its annual report and website, the Chairman and 
the CEO are in regular dialogue with the majority shareholders and ensure that the Board understands 
their views.

3.11. Dividend policy

The Bank’s dividend payout is dependent on the financial position of the bank and the overall strategy as 
determined by the Board.

3.12. Performance linked incentive structure

In 2013, the Bank did not have a stock-option plan for Staff. In November 2013, the CBB issued new 
guidelines requiring Banks to pay a portion of its senior management variable pay through equity related 
instruments. The Bank intends to be fully compliant with the CBB guidelines in 2014.

Management and staff performance appraisals

The appraisal of the management and staff is also undertaken annually, whereby every staff member 
is assessed for both their quantitative and qualitative contributions to the organization. The appraisal 
provides a list of measures that balance the organizations internal and process measures with results, 
achievements and financial measures. The CBB has issued new guidelines related to how staff should be 
evaluated and rewarded, which BMB has committed to implementing during 2014.

3.13. Aggregate remuneration to Board of Directors and senior management

The aggregate remuneration to the Board of Directors and senior management is disclosed in Note 25 
to the audited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2013. Further details are 
available at the corporate office of the Bank.

3.14.    Other disclosures

 At 31 December 2013, the Bank had a large exposure exceeding the 15% obligor limit, on one of its held-
to-maturity investment amounting to US$ 4,388 thousands. 
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4. Shareholding

The details of shareholders as at 31 December 2013 are as follows:

4.1. Top five major shareholders

Al Fawares Holding Co., the Parent company of the Bank, on 20 February 2014, transferred 42.97% of 
its shareholding in the Bank to AN Investments W.L.L., a company with limited liability controlled by the 
same shareholder as Al Fawares Holding Co.

4.2. Distribution of shareholders

4.3. Distribution of shareholders by nationality

Neither the Government of the Kingdom of Bahrain nor the management of the Bank hold any shares of 
the Bank.   Two Directors on record hold direct shareholding in the Bank: Sh. Abdullah Al Sabah (158,836 
shares) and Dr. Awadh Kh. Al Enezi (126,001 shares). 

Insider Trading

No trading of the Bank’s shares was undertaken by its Directors’ or Senior management during the 
financial year 2013.

Name Number of Shares % of Shareholding

Al Fawares Holding Co. (Kuwait) 161,906,308 66.9%

Massaleh Investment Co. (Kuwait) 19,600,005 8.1%

Mohammed Al Ohali (Saudi Arabia) 19,425,691 8.0%

Commercial International Bank (Egypt) 11,760,000 4.9%

Securities Group Company (Kuwait) 11,760,000 4.9%

Ordinary Shares Number of Shares Number of 
Shareholders

% of Shareholding

Less than 1% 9,357,440 13,130 3.9%

1% up to less than 5% 31,713,882 3 13.1%

5% up to less than 10% 39,025, 696 2 16.1%

10% up to less than 20% - - -

20% up to less than 50% - - -

50% and above 161,906,308 1 66.9%

Total 242,003,326 13,136 100.0%

Country % of Shareholding

Kuwait 81.5%

Bahrain 5.0%

KSA 8.6%

Egypt & others 4.9%

Total 100.0%
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The Corporate Governance Code and 'Status of Compliance'

Background
The Bank’s Board and Management have endeavored to comply with the Corporate Governance 
requirements as prescribed in the High Level Controls Module and Public Disclosures Module of the CBB 
Rulebook Volume 1. The Rulebook incorporates the Corporate Governance requirements issued by the 
Ministry of Industry and Commerce in 2010. The External Auditors of the Bank have also reviewed the 
adherence of the Bank to the Corporate Governance Code and the disclosure requirements of the CBB.  

The Bank’s Corporate Governance framework contains a full set of Charters, Policies, and a Corporate 
Governance Committee in line with the guidelines and industry best practices. 

The Board of Directors’ Evaluation Report on performance of the Board and each of its Committees 
and also its report on the Conflict of Interest for 2013 was placed before the Shareholders at its Annual 
Assembly on March 23, 2014.

The Bank is in compliance to the requirements of the above, as at 31 December 2013 with the following 
exceptions, which are duly explained below.

Rule-book
Reference

Regulation Status and Explanation

HC-1.4.6
(Guideline only)

The chairman of the Board should be 
an independent director so that there 
wil be an appropriate balance of power 
and greater capacity of the Board for 
independent decision making.

Being a 'controlled company', 
Chairman is a representative of 
Parent.

HC-1.4.8 The Chairman must not be an 
Executive Director.

Being a ‘controlled company’, 
Chairman is a representative of 
Parent.

HC-5.3.2

&

HC-4.2.2

The remuneration committee 
should include only independent 
directors or, alternatively, only non-
executive directors of whom majority 
are independent directors and the 
chairman is an independent director.

The nomination committee must 
include only independent directors 
or, alternatively, only non-executive 
directors of whom majority must 
be independent directors and the 
chairman must be an independent 
director.

The Nomination & Remuneration 
committee is composed of three 
members of whom two are 
independent. The Chairman is 
an independent member.  Due to 
the fact that the Bank currently 
only has two independent Board 
members, an executive director 
was appointed to this Committee. 
The Remuneration & Nomination 
Committee of the Board are 
combined.

HC-1.8.2 The Corporate Governance 
Committee should comprise of at least 
three independent members.

The Corporate Governance Com-
mittee is composed of three mem-
bers of whom two are independent. 
The Chairman is an independent 
member.  Due to the fact that the 
Bank currently only has two inde-
pendent Board members, an exec-
utive director was appointed to this 
Committee.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

5 years ratios 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Gross operating

income (US$ '000)

11,929 9,148 10,343 14,862 (6,407)

Net (loss) profit
(US$ '000)

(4,657) 2,188 3,721 6,440 (33,536)

Return on average

assets (%)

-4% 4% 5% 9% -38%

Return on average ordi-
nary shareholders' equity

-16% 7% 14% 26% -101%

Cost-to-income ratio (%) 53% 70% 61% 51% -143%
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER  2013
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
BAHRAIN MIDDLE EAST BANK (B.S.C.)

Report on the financial statements

Board of Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

Auditors’ responsibility

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2013, its financial performance and
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Bahrain Middle
East Bank (B.S.C.) ["the Bank"] and its subsidiaries [together "the Group"] which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2013 and consolidated
statements of income,

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and
for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on
the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and
fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the Board of Directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

                                        consolidated   statement of  comprehensive   income,  consolidated 
statement  of  cash flows  and consolidated  statement of changes  in  equity  for  the year then 
ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
BAHRAIN MIDDLE EAST BANK (B.S.C.) (continued)

Other matters

Report on Other Regulatory Requirements

a) 

b) 

27 February 2014
Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2012
were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified audit opinion dated 6
February 2013 on those consolidated financial statements.

As required by the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and the Central Bank of Bahrain
(CBB) Rule Book (Volume 1), we report that:

the Bank has maintained proper accounting records and the consolidated financial
statements are in agreement therewith; and

the financial information contained in the Report of the Board of Directors is
consistent with the consolidated financial statements.

We are not aware of any violations of the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, the
Central Bank of Bahrain and Financial Institutions Law, the CBB Rule Book (Volume 1 and
applicable provisions of Volume 6) and CBB directives, regulations and associated
resolutions, rules and procedures of the Bahrain Bourse or the terms of the Bank’s
memorandum and articles of association during the year ended 31 December 2013 that
might have had a material adverse effect on the business of the Bank or on its financial
position. Satisfactory explanations and information have been provided to us by
management in response to all our requests.
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Bahrain Middle East Bank (B.S.C.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2013

2013 2012
Note US$ '000 US$ '000

ASSETS 

Balances with banks and financial institutions 5          14,338 2,318           
Placements with financial institutions 6          32,384 4,000           
Trading securities 7               409 437              
Loans and advances 8          98,008 20,956         
Available-for-sale investments 9          17,170 21,544         
Held-to-maturity investments 10            4,628 4,624           
Other assets 11            2,564 1,386           

TOTAL ASSETS        169,501 55,265         

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

LIABILITIES

Deposits from financial institution 12        124,951 6,000           
Deposits from customers 13          10,196 5,089           
Borrowings 14            5,000 11,389         
Other liabilities 15               658 2,342           

Total liabilities        140,805 24,820         

EQUITY

Share capital 16          60,501          60,501 
Statutory reserve 17                  -            17,545 
Accumulated losses         (36,157)         (49,045)
Fair value reserve            4,352            1,444 

Total equity          28,696 30,445         

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY        169,501 55,265         

Chief Executive Officer

Wilson S Benjamin
Chairman

Sheikh Abdullah A.K AI Sabah
Vice Chairman

Ritchie Skelding

    The attached notes 1 to 31 form part of these consolidated financial statements____________________________________________________________________________________
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 The attached notes 1 to 31 form part of these consolidated financial statements
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Bahrain Middle East Bank (B.S.C.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2013

2013 2012
Note US$ '000 US$ '000

OPERATING INCOME
Interest income 18 12,328          1,624            
Interest expense 19 (1,744)          (1,011)          

Net interest income 10,584          613               

Investment banking income 20 927               7,218            
Other income 591               390               
Foreign exchange (loss) gain (173)             927               

Total operating income 11,929          9,148            

OPERATING EXPENSES

Staff expenses 3,547            3,946            
Premises expenses 519               591               
Other operating expenses 21 2,223            1,874            

Total operating expenses 6,289            6,411            

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
BEFORE IMPAIRMENT PROVISIONS 5,640            2,737            

Impairment provisions - net 22 (10,297)        (549)             

NET (LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (4,657)          2,188            

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS 
PER SHARE (IN US$ CENTS) 23 (1.92)            0.90              

________________________________
Wilson S Benjamin

Chairman
Sheikh Abdullah A.K AI Sabah

Vice Chairman

________________________________

Ritchie Skelding
Chief Executive Officer

   The attached notes 1 to 31 form part of these consolidated financial statements____________________________________________________________________________________
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 The attached notes 1 to 31 form part of these consolidated financial statements
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Bahrain Middle East Bank (B.S.C.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2013

2013 2012
US$ '000 US$ '000

NET (LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (4,657)       2,188         

Other comprehensive income: ^
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to

profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Fair value reserves (available-for-sale investments): 

Net amount transferred to statement of income on sale/impairment 3,964         (882)          
Net changes in fair value during the year (1,056)       131            

Total other comprehensive income (loss) for the year 2,908         (751)          

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME  FOR THE YEAR (1,749)       1,437         

    The attached notes 1 to 31 form part of these consolidated financial statements____________________________________________________________________________________
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 The attached notes 1 to 31 form part of these consolidated financial statements
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Bahrain Middle East Bank (B.S.C.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2013

2013 2012
Note US$ '000 US$ '000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net (loss) profit for the year (4,657)       2,188        

Adjustments for:
Impairment provisions - loans and advances 22 934           212           
Impairment provisions - available-for-sale investments 22 7,456        337           
Depreciation and amortisation 88             132           
Gain on disposal of equipment (8)                            -   

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Placements with financial institutions (8,750)       5,200        
Trading securities 28             1,598        
Loans and advances (77,986)     (655)          
Available-for-sale investments (174)          5,181        
Held-to-maturity investments (4)              (11)            
Other assets (1,217)       813           
Deposits from financial institution 118,951                  -   
Deposits from customers 5,107        (3,663)       
Other liabilities (1,684)       (2,342)       
Securities sold under repurchase agreements               -   (3,325)       

Net cash from operating activities 38,084      5,665        

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of premises and equipment (97)            (44)            
Proceeds from disposal of equipment 56                           -   

Net cash used in investing activities (41)            (44)            

FINANCING ACTIVITY

Repayment of borrowings (6,389)       (8,000)       

Net cash used in financing activity (6,389)       (8,000)       

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 31,654      (2,379)       

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 6,318        8,697        

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR 37,972      6,318        

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS COMPRISE:
Balances with banks and financial institutions 14,338      2,318        
Placements with financial institutions with original

maturities less than 90 days 23,634      4,000        

37,972      6,318        

   The attached notes 1 to 31 form part of these consolidated financial statements_____________________________________________________________________________________
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 The attached notes 1 to 31 form part of these consolidated financial statements
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Bahrain Middle East Bank (B.S.C.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 December 2013

Share Statutory Accumulated Fair value Total
capital reserve losses reserve equity

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Balance at 1 January 2013 60,501  17,545   (49,045)     1,444      30,445    

Total comprehensive (loss) income for
the year            -               -   (4,657)       2,908      (1,749)     

Transfer of statutory reserve to
accumulated losses            -   (17,545)  17,545                  -               -   

Balance at 31 December 2013 60,501              -   (36,157)     4,352      28,696    

Balance at 1 January 2012 60,501  17,326   (51,014)     2,195      29,008    

Total comprehensive income (loss) for
the year            -               -   2,188        (751)        1,437      

Transfer to statutory reserve            -   219        (219)                      -               -   

Balance at 31 December 2012 60,501  17,545   (49,045)     1,444      30,445    

      The attached notes 1 to 31 form part of these consolidated financial statements.__________________________________________________________________________________
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Bahrain Middle East Bank (B.S.C.)

31 December 2013

1 ACTIVITIES

2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

2013 2012
Adhari Limited 100% 100% Cayman Islands Investment holding
BMB Curacao Netherlands NV 100% 100% Netherlands 

Antilles
Investment holding

BMB Investment Company (Jersey) Limited 100% 100% Jersey Investment holding
BMB Netherlands Antilles NV 100% 100% Netherlands 

Antilles
Investment holding

BMB New Era Ventures - I LDC 100% 100% Cayman Islands Investment holding
BMB New Era Ventures – II LDC 100% 100% Cayman Islands Investment holding
BMB New Era Ventures – III LDC 100% 100% Cayman Islands Investment holding
BMB New Era Ventures – IV LDC 100% 100% Cayman Islands Investment holding
BMB New Era Ventures – V LDC 100% 100% Cayman Islands Investment holding
BMB Property Services 100% 100% Bahrain Building Management
BMB Trade Finance 100% 100% Cayman Islands Investment holding
Bu Zaidan Limited – LDC 100% 100% Cayman Islands Investment holding
European Universal Finance NV 100% 100% Netherlands Investment holding
Qassari Limited – LDC 100% 100% Cayman Islands Investment holding
Umm Shoum Limited – LDC 100% 100% Cayman Islands Investment holding
Universal Finance Holding NV 100% 100% Netherlands Investment holding
Universal Merchant Holdings NV 100% 100% Netherlands 

Antilles
Investment holding

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the
Board of Directors on 27 February 2014.

Bahrain Middle East Bank (B.S.C.) ("the Bank") is a Bahraini Shareholding Company incorporated in the
Kingdom of Bahrain. On 9 April 2007, the Central Bank of Bahrain ("CBB") issued a Conventional
Wholesale Banking license to the Bank. The commercial registration (CR) number of the Bank is 12266.
The Bank is listed on the Bahrain Bourse under the ticker 'BMB'. The principal activities of the Bank and
its subsidiaries (together "the Group") are trade finance and corporate advisory in the digital media and e-
commerce sectors. The Bank has a legacy portfolio of private equity investments.

The registered office of the Bank is, BMB Centre, Building 135, Road 1702, Block 317, Diplomatic Area,
Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain.

Subsequent to the approval of the 31 December 2012 consolidated financial statements (the
"consolidated financial statements") by Shareholders on 28 March 2013, the Board and new
management team of the Bank discovered certain transactions and balances which were not reported in
the Group's consolidated financial statements. As the Board of Directors was not provided with complete
information and documentation relevant to these transactions and balances, based on a detailed review
of the underlying documentation for the transactions and balances and after extensive analysis, the
Bank has concluded that assets and liabilities arising from these transactions, together with certain other
similar assets and liabilities which were previously reported and accounted for as customer deposits
under a discretionary portfolio management program, should now be reported and accounted for as
Bank's assets and liabilities. In line with International Financial Reporting Standards, the Board and new
management team of the Bank have concluded that since key information was not available at the date
of approval of the consolidated financial statements, the corresponding figures are not required to be
restated.

As a result, gross assets of US$ 143,093 thousand mostly allocated between (i) loans and advances -
US$ 82,621 thousand, (ii) trading securities - US$ 34,996 thousand (subsequently liquidated and placed
with financial institutions and others), and (iii) balances with banks and financial institutions - US$ 25,476
thousand, and gross liabilities of US$ 143,093 thousand allocated to deposits from financial institutions,
were reported on the interim consolidated statement of financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2013. Furthermore, US$ 1,907 thousand was charged representing charges / losses arising from the
recovery of assets and liabilities as detailed above.

These consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Bank and its
subsidiaries, all of which have 31 December as their year end.  The Bank has the following subsidiaries:

Ownership
Name

Country of 
Incorporation

Activity

___________________________________________________________________________________
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Bahrain Middle East Bank (B.S.C.)

31 December 2013
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (continued)

-

-
-

- The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
- Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
- The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee);

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins
when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the statement of comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity
holders of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting
policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;
Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests;
Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
Recognises the fair value of the consideration received;

Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and
The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

At 31 December all subsidiary companies were consolidated in the financial statements.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the
Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has: 

Recognises the fair value of any investment retained;
Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and
Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in OCI to profit or loss or
retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

___________________________________________________________________________________
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Bahrain Middle East Bank (B.S.C.)

31 December 2013
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4.1 New and amended standards and interpretations issued and effective

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except for the
following relevant amendments to IFRS effective as of 1 January 2013:

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on an historical cost basis, except for available-for-
sale investments, trading securities and financial assets held at fair value through statement of income,
that have been measured at fair value. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (“US$”), this being the
functional currency of the Group, and are rounded to the nearest thousand unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and in
conformity with the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and the Central Bank of Bahrain and Financial
Institutions Law, the CBB Rule Book (Volume 1 and applicable provisions of Volume 6) and CBB
directives, regulations and associated resolutions, rules and procedures of the Bahrain Bourse and the
terms of the Bank’s memorandum and articles of association.  

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities -
Amendments to IFRS 7
The amendment requires an entity to disclose information about rights to set-off financial instruments
and related arrangements (e.g., collateral agreements). The disclosures would provide users with
information that is useful in evaluating the effect of netting arrangements on an entity’s financial position.
The new disclosures are required for all recognised financial instruments that are set off in accordance
with IAS 32. The disclosures also apply to recognised financial instruments that are subject to an
enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement, irrespective of whether the financial
instruments are set off in accordance with IAS 32. As the Group does not set off financial instruments in
accordance with IAS 32 and does not have relevant offsetting arrangements, the amendment does not
have an impact on the Group.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements
IFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies to all entities including special purpose entities.
IFRS 10 replaces the parts of previously existing IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements that dealt with consolidated financial statements and SIC-12 Consolidation – Special
Purpose Entities. IFRS 10 changes the definition of control such that an investor controls an investee
when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. To meet the definition of control in
IFRS 10, all three criteria must be met, including: (a) an investor has power over an investee; (b) the
investor has exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and (c) the
investor has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.
IFRS 10 had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures
IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly-controlled Entities — Non-
monetary Contributions by Venturers. IFRS 11 removes the option to account for jointly controlled
entities (JCEs) using proportionate consolidation. Instead, JCEs that meet the definition of a joint
venture under IFRS 11 must be accounted for using the equity method. IFRS 11 had no impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 12, ‘Disclosures of interests in other entities’ includes the disclosure requirements for all forms of
interests in other entities, including joint arrangements, associates, structured entities and other off
balance sheet vehicles. Accordingly, the Group has made such disclosures. IFRS 12 had no impact on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

___________________________________________________________________________________
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Bahrain Middle East Bank (B.S.C.)

31 December 2013
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.1 New and amended standards and interpretations issued and effective (continued)

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

IAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income – Amendments to IAS 1

IAS 1 Clarification of the requirement for comparative information (Amendment)

Improvements to IFRSs (2009-2011 Cycle)

IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under IFRS for all fair value measurements. IFRS 13
does not change when an entity is required to use fair value, but rather provides guidance on how to
measure fair value under IFRS when fair value is required or permitted. The application of IFRS 13 has
not materially impacted the fair value measurements carried out by the Group.

These improvements will not have an impact on the Bank, but include:

IAS 19 Employee Benefits 
The IASB has issued numerous amendments to IAS 19, which are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2013. These include the elimination of the corridor approach and
recognising all actuarial gains and losses in the other comprehensive income as they occur; immediate
recognition of all past service costs; and replacement of interest cost and expected return on plan
assets with a net interest amount that is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined
benefit liability (asset); and certain clarifications and re-wording. The amendments had no impact on the
Group's financial position or performance.

The amendment to IAS 1 clarifies the difference between voluntary additional comparative information
and the minimum required comparative information. An entity must include comparative information in
the related notes to the financial statements when it voluntarily provides comparative information beyond
the minimum required comparative period. The additional voluntarily comparative information does not
need to be presented in a complete set of financial statements.

Other amendments resulting from Improvements to IFRSs did not have any impact on the accounting
policies, financial position or performance of the Bank.

IFRS 1 – Repeat application of IFRS 1
IFRS 1 – Borrowing Costs
IAS 1 – Clarification of the requirement for comparative information
IAS 16 – Classification of servicing equipment
IAS 32 – Tax effects of distributions to holders of equity instruments
IAS 34 – Interim financial reporting and segment information for total assets and liabilities

The amendments to IAS 1 introduce a grouping of items presented in other comprehensive income
(OCI). Items that could be reclassified (or recycled) to profit or loss at a future point in time (e.g., net
gain on hedge of net investment, exchange differences on translation of foreign operations, net
movement on cash flow hedges and net loss or gain on available-for-sale financial assets) now have to
be presented separately from items that will never be reclassified (e.g., actuarial gains and losses on
defined benefit plans and revaluation of land and buildings). The amendment affected presentation only
and had no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance.

___________________________________________________________________________________
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.2 New standards and amendments issued but not yet effective

4.3 Foreign currencies

4.4 Financial instruments

i) Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated into
the functional currency at the spot exchange rate at that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated into the functional
currency at the spot exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences arising on translation are
recognised in the statement of income.

Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the
transactions. Income and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
statement of income.

Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements are listed below. This listing is of relevant standards and interpretations issued, which the
Group reasonably expects to be applicable at a future date. The Group intends to adopt those standards
(where applicable) when they become effective:

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss ("FVTPL"), loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or available-for-sale financial
investments, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial
recognition.

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs, except in the case of
financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

These amendments which are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, provide
an exception to the consolidation requirement for entities that meet the definition of an investment entity
under IFRS 10. The exception to consolidation requires investment entities to account for subsidiaries at
fair value through profit or loss. It is not expected that this amendment would be relevant to the Group,
since none of the entities in the Group would qualify to be an investment entity under IFRS 10.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9, as issued, reflects the first phase of the IASB’s work on the replacement of IAS 39 and applies
to classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities as defined in IAS 39. In
subsequent phases, the IASB is addressing hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets. The
mandatory effective date of the standard has been indefinitely postponed. The adoption of the first
phase of IFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial
assets, but will not have an impact on classification and measurements of the Group’s financial
liabilities. The Group will quantify the effect in conjunction with the other phases, when the final standard
including all phases is issued and effective.

Investment Entities (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27)

The assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into US$ at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign subsidiaries are translated into
US$ at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions.

Purchase or sale of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e.,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
___________________________________________________________________________________
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31 December 2013
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.4 Financial instruments (continued)

i) Financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as described below:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Loans and receivables

Held-to-maturity investments

Available-for-sale financial investments

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) include financial assets held for trading and
financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the
near term.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair
value with net changes in fair value presented in the statement of income.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at
their initial recognition date and only if the criteria under IAS 39 are satisfied.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method, less impairment. Amortised
cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as interest income in the statement of
income. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the statement of income.

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities are classified
as held to maturity when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold them to maturity. After
initial measurement, held to maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the EIR, less
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as interest
income in the statement of income. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the statement
of income.

Available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial investments include quoted and unquoted funds, quoted and
unquoted equity investments and debt securities. Equity investments classified as AFS are those that
are neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt
securities in this category are those that are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and that
may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in the market conditions.

After initial measurement, available-for-sale financial investments are subsequently measured at fair
value with unrealised gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-
sale reserve until the investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is
recognised in the statement of income, or the investment is determined to be impaired, when the
cumulative loss is reclassified from the available-for-sale reserve to the statement of income. Interest
earned whilst holding available-for-sale financial investments is reported as interest income using the
EIR method.
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Bahrain Middle East Bank (B.S.C.)

31 December 2013
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.4 Financial instruments (continued)

i) Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition

-

-

-

ii) Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

Available-for-sale financial investments

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is derecognised when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and

either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

An assessment is made at each balance sheet date for all financial assets other than those classified as
FVTPL to determine whether there is objective evidence that a specific financial asset may be impaired.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, judgment is made by the management in the estimation of
the amount and timing of future cash flows along with making judgments about the financial situation of
the underlying asset and realizable value of collateral. If such evidence exists, the estimated recoverable
amount of that asset is determined and any impairment loss, determined appropriately, is recognized in
the statement of income and credited to an allowance account. Impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows.
The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

The impaired financial assets together with the associated allowance are written off when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery, after obtaining required regulatory approvals. If, in a subsequent
year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is increased
or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If an amount written off earlier is later recovered, the
recovery is credited to the statement of income.

In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence would include a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost. ‘Significant’ is evaluated
against the original cost of the investment and ‘prolonged’ against the period in which the fair value has
been below its original cost. When there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss – measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
investment previously recognised in the statement of income – is removed from other comprehensive
income and recognised in the statement of income. Impairment losses on equity investments are not
reversed through profit or loss; increases in their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in
other comprehensive income.

In the case of debt instruments classified as available for sale, impairment is assessed based on the
same criteria as financial assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for
impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the difference between the amortised cost and the
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the statement of
income. If, in a subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increase can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the statement of
income, the impairment loss is reversed through the statement of income.

___________________________________________________________________________________
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31 December 2013
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.4 Financial instruments (continued)

iii) Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as described below:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Borrowings

Financial guarantee contracts

Derecognition

iv) Offsetting of financial instruments

4.5 Payables, accruals and provisions

4.6 Dividends and any other appropriations

Proposed dividends are disclosed as appropriations within equity until the time they are approved by the
shareholders. On approval by shareholders, these are transferred to liabilities until paid out.

Any other appropriations from equity can only be recognized subject to the approval of the shareholders,
against the appropriation for shareholders in equity. These are subsequently transferred to liabilities
once approved by the shareholders.

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequently, the liability is
measured at the higher of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation
at the reporting date and the amount recognised less cumulative amortisation.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability.
The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of income.

Provision for employee benefit costs is made in accordance with contractual and statutory obligations
and other benefit plans approved by the Board of Directors.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprises of financial liabilities held for trading and
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Gains or
losses on these instruments are recognised in the statement of income.

Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, or loans and borrowings, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its
financial liabilities at initial recognition. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Provisions are made when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, when it is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The Group’s financial liabilities comprise deposits from financial institution, deposits from customers,
borrowings and accounts payable.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if (i) there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and (ii)
there is an intention to settle on a net basis in order to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

After initial recognition, interest bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of income when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.

___________________________________________________________________________________
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.7 Treasury shares

4.8 Income and expenses

4.9 Segment reporting

4.10 Cash and cash equivalents

4.11 Fiduciary activities

4.12 Significant accounting judgments and estimates

Interest income is recognized using the effective yield of the asset.

Investment income from all FVTPL investments is recognized on the basis of changes in fair value for
the period. Capital gains realized on FVTPL investments are recognized by comparing the sale price
against the previously reported fair value, net of expenses and costs payable in respect of the
realisation.

Treasury shares are stated at acquisition cost and are shown as a deduction to equity. Any surplus
arising from the subsequent sale of treasury shares at a price greater than cost is taken directly to equity
and not through the statement of income. Any deficit arising from the subsequent sale of treasury shares
at a price lower than cost is charged first against the cumulative surplus from past transactions in
treasury shares, and where such surplus is insufficient, then any difference is charged to retained
earnings.

Interest on borrowings represents funding cost and is calculated using the EIR method.

Fee income is recognized when services are rendered.

Realized capital gains or losses on investments other than FVTPL investments are taken to the
statement of income at the time of derecognition.

Fair value measurement
The Group measures the fair value of its financial instruments at each statement of financial position
date. Also, fair values of financial instruments measured at amortised cost are disclosed in Note 30.

The Group administers and manages assets owned by clients which are not reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Fees are recognised as the services are provided and are included in
fee and commission in the statement of income.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short term funds, placements with financial institutions
and other liquid assets that are readily convertible into cash and are subject to insignificant risk of
changes in value with an original maturity of three months or less.

An operating segment is a component of the Group that (i) engages in business activities from which it
may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions
with any of the Group’s other components, (ii) whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the
Group Executive Committee of the Board (being the chief operating decision maker) to make decisions
about resources allocated to each segment and assess its performance, and (iii) for which discrete
financial information is available.

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has exercised judgment and
estimates as mentioned below in determining the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

___________________________________________________________________________________
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31 December 2013

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.12 Significant accounting judgments and estimates (continued)

5 BALANCES WITH BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
2013 2012

US$ '000 US$ '000

Money at call with banks 14,338         2,318           

14,338         2,318           

6 PLACEMENTS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

7 TRADING SECURITIES
2013 2012

US$ '000 US$ '000

Equity securities 409              434              
Debt securities                  -   3                  

409              437              

Placements with financial institutions include US$ 3,186 thousand (2012: US$ 3,374 thousand) placed with
a third party retail bank in the Kingdom of Bahrain; representing amounts held on account of sub-
participants in private equity funds and for the purposes of honoring their capital calls to fund managers.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fair value measurement (continued)

Going concern

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

- In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
- In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability accessible
by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumption that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, and that market participants act in their economic best interest.

The fair value of financial instruments that are quoted in an active market is determined by reference to
market bid prices at the close of business on the statement of position date.

In case of unquoted equity or fund investments, the Group uses the net asset values provided by fund
managers or uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient
data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising
the use of unobservable inputs.

The Group’s Board has made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and is
satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore,
the Board is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements continue to be prepared on
the going concern basis.

_______________________________________________________________________________________
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8 LOANS AND ADVANCES
2013 2012

US$ '000 US$ '000

Trade finance 90,039         13,292         
Installment sale receivable 7,876           7,876           
Other 1,170                            -   

99,085         21,168         

Less: Collective provision (1,077)          (212)             

98,008         20,956         

9 AVAILABLE - FOR - SALE INVESTMENTS
2013 2012

US$ '000 US$ '000

Unquoted equity fund investments 16,491         21,500         
Strategic investments 679              38                
Quoted equity investments                  -   6                  

17,170         21,544         

10 HELD - TO - MATURITY INVESTMENTS
2013 2012

US$ '000 US$ '000

Sovereign bond 4,388           4,388           
Other bonds 240              236              

4,628           4,624           

11 OTHER ASSETS
2013 2012

US$ '000 US$ '000

Accrued interest receivable 1,961           289              
Prepayments 169              341              
Equipment 148              187              
Others 286              569              

2,564           1,386           

12 DEPOSITS FROM FINANCIAL INSTITUTION

Installment sale receivable relates back to 1995 where the Bank entered into an agreement to sell its
investment in a piece of land in the State of Kuwait on an installment sale basis. The sale was to a
corporate domiciled in the State of Kuwait for a total aggregate consideration of US$ 43,200 thousand, with
final repayment in 2017. The loan is secured by a corporate guarantee (refer note 25).

Trade finance loans relate to insurance backed trade finance transactions as undertaken by the Bank.

These represent deposits from a financial institution in the region, which carry fixed interest rates and
require a minimum of 180 days notice for repayment. 

_______________________________________________________________________________________
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13 DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS

Current Non Current Total
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Customer participation in funds                  -   3,186           3,186           
Others 7,010                            -   7,010           

            7,010             3,186 10,196         

Current Non Current Total
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Customer participation in funds                  -   3,374           3,374           
Others             1,715                  -   1,715           

            1,715             3,374 5,089           

Others consists of deposit amounts from non-Bahrain based corporate and individuals.

14 BORROWINGS

15 OTHER LIABILITIES
2013 2012

US$ '000 US$ '000

Accrued interest payable 135              1,168           
Employee leaving indemnity 207              428              
Accrued expenses 151              75                
Others 165              671              

658              2,342           

16 SHARE CAPITAL

Number Amount Number Amount
'000 US$ '000 '000 US$ '000

Authorized
Ordinary shares of US$0.25 each    2,000,000         500,000      2,000,000         500,000 

Issued and fully paid
Ordinary shares of US$0.25 each       242,003           60,501         242,003           60,501 

Treasury shares

Customer participation in funds represents amounts received from customers to be invested in private
equity funds administered by the Bank. These funds, although treated as part of customer deposits, are
retained by the Bank until draw-downs are made by private equity fund managers. Customer participation in
funds includes US$ 495 thousand (31 December 2012: US$ 622 thousand) in deposits held on behalf of
BMB Technology and Telecommunications Fund (refer note 29).

At 31 December 2013, the Bank owned 1 of its own shares (31 December 2012: 1 share). This share is
treated as a deduction from the shareholders’ equity.

Borrowings represent a loan from a counterparty at a fixed interest rate on commercial terms. Interest and
principal is payable monthly and the facility matures on 1 May 2014.

2013 2012

2013

2012
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17 STATUTORY RESERVE

18 INTEREST INCOME
2013 2012

US$ '000 US$ '000

Loans and advances 11,712         1,277           
Government bonds and other bonds 471              322              
Placements with financial institutions 145              25                

12,328         1,624           

19 INTEREST EXPENSE
2013 2012

US$ '000 US$ '000

Deposits from financial institution 1,244           231              
Borrowings 481              772              
Deposits from customers 19                3                  
Others                  -   5                  

1,744           1,011           

20 INVESTMENT BANKING INCOME
2013 2012

US$ '000 US$ '000

Income from available-for-sale investments 1,160           2,629           
Net loss from trading securities (274)             (80)               
Fees and commissions 41                4,669           

927              7,218           

21 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
2013 2012

US$ '000 US$ '000

Professional expenses 1,536           824              
Communication expenses 370              560              
Business development 113              98                
Others 204              392              

2,223           1,874           

During the year, with the prior approval of the CBB and Ministry of Industry and Commerce, the Bank has
transferred statutory reserves amounting to US$ 17,545 thousand to off-set accumulated losses. The Bank
in its Annual General Meeting to be held in March 2014, will seek shareholders approval for the same.

The Bahrain Commercial Companies Law requires 10% of the net profit for the year to be transferred to a
statutory reserve until such reserve equals 50% of the paid up capital. The reserve cannot be utilised for the
purpose of distribution, except in such circumstances as stipulated in the Bahrain Commercial Companies
Law. During the year, the Bank has not transferred any amounts to the statutory reserve, as it has reported
losses.
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22 IMPAIRMENT PROVISIONS

1 January Charge Written-off 31 December
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Loans and advances 212            934              (69)               1,077           
Available-for-sale investments 8,995         7,456           (433)             16,018         
Others (refer note 1)                -   1,907                            -   1,907           

9,207         10,297         (502)             19,002         

1 January Charge Written-off 31 December

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Loans and advances                -   212                               -   212              
Available-for-sale investments 9,514         337              (856)             8,995           

9,514         549              (856)             9,207           

23 BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 

2013 2012

Net (loss) profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Bank (US$ ’000) (4,657)          2,188           

Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year 242,003       242,003       

Basic and diluted earnings per share (US$ cents) (1.92)            0.90             

24 OPERATING SEGMENTS

Segment information

Financing - Financing and trade finance

Investing - Investments in listed bonds, equities and private equity
funds

Other operating segments - Corporate advisory and building rental income etc.

2013

2012

The Group’s business segments are broken down by key business activities and those with clearly
identifiable revenue streams and expenses. The segmentation is in line with segments internally reported to
the Chief Executive Officer, who is the chief decision maker.

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the year are calculated by dividing the profit for the year by the
weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year as follows:

The Bank did not have any outstanding shares which could have a dilution effect on the earnings per share.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into three major business segments:
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Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year 242,003       242,003       

Basic and diluted earnings per share (US$ cents) (1.92)            0.90             

24 OPERATING SEGMENTS

Segment information

Financing - Financing and trade finance

Investing - Investments in listed bonds, equities and private equity
funds

Other operating segments - Corporate advisory and building rental income etc.

2013

2012

The Group’s business segments are broken down by key business activities and those with clearly
identifiable revenue streams and expenses. The segmentation is in line with segments internally reported to
the Chief Executive Officer, who is the chief decision maker.

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the year are calculated by dividing the profit for the year by the
weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year as follows:

The Bank did not have any outstanding shares which could have a dilution effect on the earnings per share.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into three major business segments:
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24 OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

Financing Investing
activity activity Other Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Interest income 11,857       471                               -   12,328         
Interest expense (1,725)                         -   (19)               (1,744)          
Investment banking income                -   886              41                927              

Results from operations before impairment 10,132       1,357           22                11,511         

Unallocated foreign exchange loss (173)             
Unallocated other income 591              
Unallocated corporate expenses (6,289)          
Impairment provisions (934)           (7,456)          (1,907)          (10,297)        

Net loss for the year 9,198         (6,099)          (1,885)          (4,657)          

Reportable segment assets 144,730     22,207         2,564           169,501       

Reportable segment liabilities 129,951                      -   10,854         140,805       

Equity 28,696         

Total liabilities and equity 169,501       

Financing Investing
activity activity Other Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Interest income 1,302         322                               -   1,624           
Interest expense (1,003)                         -   (8)                 (1,011)          
Investment banking income                -   2,549           4,669           7,218           

Results from operations before impairment 299            2,871           4,661           7,831           

Unallocated foreign exchange profit 927              
Unallocated other income 390              
Unallocated corporate expenses (6,411)          
Impairment provisions (212)           (337)                              -   (549)             

Net income for the year 87              2,534           4,661           2,188           

Reportable segment assets 27,274       26,605         1,386           55,265         

Reportable segment liabilities 17,389                        -   7,431           24,820         

Equity 30,445         

Total liabilities and equity 55,265         

Geographic information
Although the Group’s two main business segments are managed on a worldwide basis, they operate in
three main geographical areas. The Group’s exposure to credit risk is concentrated in these areas: North
America (United States of America and Canada), Europe (Primarily Western Europe) and Gulf Cooperation
Council ("GCC"). The following table shows the distribution of the Group’s revenue and assets by
geographical segment, allocated based on the location in which the assets and liabilities are located, for the
years ended 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012:

Segment information for the year ended 31 December 2013 is as follows:

Segment information for the year ended 31 December 2012 is as follows:
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24 OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

Total 
income  Total assets Total income  Total assets

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

North America 885            24,193         2,706           14,872         
Europe 12,390       96,613         873              18,840         
GCC 153            40,426         6,286           14,311         
Rest of the world 245            8,269           294              7,242           

Total 13,673       169,501       10,159         55,265         

25 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

2013 2012 2013 2012
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Loans 18              34                                 -                    -   
Deposits                -                    -   148              117              
Other liabilities - post-employment benefits 38              415                  -                    -   

Key management compensation

2013 2012
US$ '000 US$ '000

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 1,729           1,694           
Post-employment benefits 31                75                

1,760           1,769           

Directors’ fees 94                85                

Guarantee

2013 2012

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Related parties include
entities over which the Bank exercises significant influence, major shareholders, directors, key
management personnel of the Bank and entities owned, controlled, jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by such parties.

The Bank has received a corporate payment guarantee from Al Fawares Holding Co. with regard to the
installment sale receivable (refer note 8).

 Other related parties 

Key management personnel of the Group are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Group. Key management personnel comprise the Board of
Directors, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Heads of Departments. Transactions entered
during the year and balances at the year-end are set out below.

Compensation to key management personnel, including directors, included in the statement of income is as
follows:

 Key management 

_______________________________________________________________________________________
23

Bahrain Middle East Bank (B.S.C.)

31 December 2013
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

Total 
income  Total assets Total income  Total assets

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

North America 885            24,193         2,706           14,872         
Europe 12,390       96,613         873              18,840         
GCC 153            40,426         6,286           14,311         
Rest of the world 245            8,269           294              7,242           

Total 13,673       169,501       10,159         55,265         

25 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

2013 2012 2013 2012
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Loans 18              34                                 -                    -   
Deposits                -                    -   148              117              
Other liabilities - post-employment benefits 38              415                  -                    -   

Key management compensation

2013 2012
US$ '000 US$ '000

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 1,729           1,694           
Post-employment benefits 31                75                

1,760           1,769           

Directors’ fees 94                85                

Guarantee

2013 2012

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Related parties include
entities over which the Bank exercises significant influence, major shareholders, directors, key
management personnel of the Bank and entities owned, controlled, jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by such parties.

The Bank has received a corporate payment guarantee from Al Fawares Holding Co. with regard to the
installment sale receivable (refer note 8).

 Other related parties 

Key management personnel of the Group are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Group. Key management personnel comprise the Board of
Directors, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Heads of Departments. Transactions entered
during the year and balances at the year-end are set out below.

Compensation to key management personnel, including directors, included in the statement of income is as
follows:

 Key management 
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26 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The table below summarizes the regulatory capital and the risk asset ratio:

Regulatory capital 2013 2012
US$ '000 US$ '000

Tier 1 capital
Share capital 60,501        60,501         
Statutory reserve                 -   17,545         
Accumulated losses (36,157)       (49,045)        
Unrealised gross losses arising from fair valuing equity securities (19)              (3,122)          
Excess amount over maximum permitted large exposure limit (195)            (360)             

Total qualifying Tier 1 capital (a) 24,130        25,519         

Tier 2 capital
Revaluation reserves – available-for-sale investments 1,967          2,055           
Excess amount over maximum permitted large exposure limit (195)                             -   

Total qualifying Tier 2 capital (b) 1,772          2,055           

Regulatory capital base under Basel II (c) = (a) + (b) 25,902        27,574         

Risk weighted exposure Principal Risk weighted Principal Risk weighted
amounts equivalents amounts equivalents
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Claims on sovereigns 6,717       3,998              4,454          4,388           
Claims on banks 44,069     9,663              6,318          1,264           
Claims on corporates* 98,216     96,794            21,192        14,613         
Investments in securities 17,579     26,164            21,981        32,750         
Other assets 2,498       2,498              1,320          1,319           
Off-balance sheet items
Commitments and contingent liabilities 7,817       7,817              2,671          2,671           

Credit risk weighted exposure 146,934          57,005         

Market risk weighted exposure 5,638              14,288         

Operational risk weighted exposure 13,011            9,873           

Total risk weighted exposure (d) 165,583          81,166         

Tier 1 capital ratio  (a) / (d) 14.6% 31.4%

Capital adequacy ratio  (c) / (d) 15.6% 34.0%

Minimum required as per CBB
regulatory guidelines under Basel II 12.0% 12.0%

Capital cushion over minimum
required as per CBB guidelines 6,032              17,834         

* Substantially all claims on corporates are insured by a major international insurance company with a long
term credit rating from Moodys of 'A3' (Stable). However, this is not reflected in the Bank's capital weights.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The primary purpose of the Bank’s capital management is to ensure that the Bank complies with externally
imposed capital requirements and that the Bank maintains healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and to maximise shareholders’ value.

To manage its capital, the Bank uses the Standardised approach and employs standards mentioned in the
Basel II Framework, a risk adjusted measure of capital adequacy (a Capital Adequacy Ratio or “CAR”)
based on the local regulatory implementation of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision’s capital
adequacy guidelines.

2013 2012

For the assessment of the adequacy of regulatory capital, the Group has chosen (i) standardized approach
for credit risk and market risk; and (ii) basic indicator approach for operational risk.
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27 CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Held-for-
trading

Held-to-
maturity

Available-
for-sale

Amortised 
cost Total

Assets
Balances with banks and financial institutions             -                 -               -   14,338      14,338     

            -                 -               -   32,384      32,384     
Trading securities 409                      -               -                 -   409          
Loans and advances             -                 -               -   98,008      98,008     
Available-for-sale investments             -                 -   17,170                  -   17,170     
Held-to-maturity investments             -   4,628                   -                 -   4,628       
Other assets             -                 -               -   2,247        2,247       

Total financial assets 409        4,628       17,170    146,977    169,184   

Liabilities
Deposits from financial institution             -                 -               -   124,951    124,951   
Deposits from customers             -                 -               -   10,196      10,196     
Borrowings             -                 -               -   5,000        5,000       
Other liabilities             -                 -               -   300           300          

Total financial liabilities             -                 -               -   140,447    140,447   

Held-for-
trading

Held-to-
maturity

Available-
for-sale

Amortised 
cost Total

Assets
Balances with banks and financial institutions             -                 -               -   2,318        2,318       

            -                 -               -   4,000        4,000       
Trading securities 437                      -               -                 -   437          
Loans and advances             -                 -               -   20,956      20,956     
Available-for-sale investments             -                 -   21,544                  -   21,544     
Held-to-maturity investments             -   4,624                   -                 -   4,624       
Other assets             -                 -               -   858           858          

Total financial assets 437        4,624       21,544    28,132      54,737     

Liabilities
Deposits from financial institution             -                 -               -   6,000        6,000       
Deposits from customers             -                 -               -   5,089        5,089       
Borrowings             -                 -               -   11,389      11,389     
Other liabilities             -                 -               -   1,839        1,839       

Total financial liabilities             -                 -               -   24,317      24,317     

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Placements with financial institutions

Placements with financial institutions

31 December 2013 US$ '000

US$ '00031 December 2012
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

• 
• 
• 
• 

• 
• 
• 

investment evaluation criteria based on quantitative and qualitative approaches;
day to day monitoring and management of liquidity risk;

robust operating policies and procedures, including those for specific allocation of risk limits to
individual obligors and/or transactions;

assessment of regulatory compliance by an independent personnel; and
on-going review of exposures, excesses and risks by an independent personnel;

The Board delegates certain authority to the EXCO to implement the risk control decisions. To carry out
these responsibilities, the EXCO operates through the EMC.

The EMC is chaired by the Chief Executive Officer and comprises members of the senior management. It
serves as the Bank’s credit committee and asset liability management committee. On an on-going basis,
the EMC monitors the environment in which the Bank operates and the risks to which it is exposed and
adjusts the Bank’s operations as appropriate.

Risk Management (“RM”) plays a key role in this process. RM is independent of the Bank’s trading and
business areas and reports directly to the Audit Committee. It is responsible for identifying and quantifying
risk exposures, recommending appropriate limits and monitoring usage of them. As part of its duties, the
RM prepares a variety of daily risk reports, including stress tests, for senior management and the EMC.

Internal Audit, which is independent and also reports to the Audit Committee assists in the risk
management process. In particular, Internal Audit is charged with a periodic review of the effectiveness of
Bank’s policies and internal controls.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Risk management at the Bank begins at the Board of Directors level. The Board of Directors exercise
oversight and final approval of the risk management process. It operates through two Board Committees,
the Executive Committee ("EXCO") and the Audit Committee ("AC"). With input provided by the Bank’s
Executive Management Committee ("EMC") that also acts as the Risk Management Committee. The
EXCO proposes the overall risk management strategy of the Bank. Based on its recommendation, the
Board of Directors approve the aggregate levels of risk the Bank can assume as well as reviewing and
approving the Bank’s risk management policies, risk limits and risk control framework. Among its duties,
the AC is charged with reviewing and approving the Bank’s policies and procedures as well as overseeing
both the internal and external audits of the Bank, including matters related to anti money laundering and
terrorism finance.

In the normal course of its business, the Bank is exposed to various risks related to the nature of the
activities in which it engages. The principal sources of risk are credit risk, market risk (comprising of
interest rate risk, currency risk and equity price risk), liquidity risk, operating and legal risk.

At the Bank, the management of financial and other risks is based on the establishment of an appropriate
risk governance structure, comprising:

Risk limits are at the heart of this process. The Bank begins by setting maximum exposure limits as a
percentage of capital for major lines of business. Within these macro limits, sub limits are set by
geography, obligor type/credit grade, instrument, tenor, etc. For trading activities additional controls such as
VaR, duration, maximum intraday and inter-day exposures, “stop losses”, etc., are applied as well. Individual
transactions then take place within these sub-limits.

In addition to the existence of various risk limits, overall risk discipline is maintained by the requirement that
the Bank (a) maintains a Basel II Capital Adequacy Ratio in excess of the regulatory required minimum and
(b) considers the impact on the Bank’s liquidity position of any major transaction or new business initiative.

clearly defined exposure and risk limits by geography, sector and counterparty;

periodic internal audits of the control environment.
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

a) Credit risk

Maximum exposure to credit risk

Neither past Quarterly
due nor Maximum average

impaired Impaired Provisions credit risk balance
ASSETS US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Balances with banks and 
financial institutions          14,338                  -                     -              14,338 20,848         

Placements with financial
institutions          32,384                  -                     -              32,384 17,922         

Trading securities               409                  -                     -                   409 6,637           
Loans and advances          99,085                  -              (1,077)            98,008 102,816       
Available-for-sale investments            5,366 27,822        (16,018)                    17,170 19,490         
Held-to-maturity investments            4,628                  -                     -                4,628 4,617           
Other assets            2,247                  -                     -                2,247 2,968           

       158,457          27,822          (17,095)          169,184 175,298       

Off-balance sheet items 9,185                           -                     -   9,185             9,188           

Neither past Quarterly
due nor Maximum average

impaired Impaired Provisions credit risk balance
ASSETS US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Balances with banks and 
financial institutions 2,318                           -                     -                2,318 4,294           

Placements with financial
institutions 4,000                           -                     -                4,000 4,600           

Trading securities 437                              -                     -                   437 480              
Loans and advances 21,168                         -                 (212)            20,956 21,000         
Available-for-sale investments 9,953          20,646        (8,995)                      21,604 23,108         
Held-to-maturity investments 4,624                           -                     -                4,624 4,621           
Other assets 858                              -                     -                   858 1,425           

         43,358          20,646            (9,207)            54,797 59,528         

Off-balance sheet items 10,491                         -                     -   10,491           11,656         

2013

The following sections review the principal risks to which the Bank is exposed in the normal course of its
business and how it manages those risks.

Credit risk is the risk of loss arising as a result of the inability or unwillingness of a counterparty to meet its
obligations to the Bank. Risk Management, under the oversight of EMC, has the responsibility for
establishing credit risk standards and implementing the Bank’s credit risk management process.

As a further step in mitigating risks, the Bank follows a policy of diversification in its activities and seeks to
minimize the risk exposure to particular geographical regions, counterparties and types of business. In
identifying and monitoring risk exposures, the Bank uses a variety of quantitative tools as well as qualitative
approaches to measure risks at the “macro” level. The Bank seeks to judiciously balance the use of these
two approaches rather than rely on a single approach.

2012
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

a) Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality by class of financial assets

 Internal 
rating 

 ECAI 
equivalent 

 1 to 7  AAA to B- 

 8  CCC- 

 9  C- 

 10  Below C- 

Analysis of risk concentration

Concentration of credit risk arises when a number of obligors or counterparties are engaged in similar
business activities or activities in the same geographic region or have similar economic features that would
cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political
or other conditions. Accordingly, such concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s
performance to developments affecting a particular industry or region.

The following tables summarize the Group’s geographical and industry sector exposures and any potential
risk concentrations arising there from. Maximum credit risk exposures are detailed without considering the
effects, if any, of collateral or other credit mitigation techniques on the Group’s assets, liabilities and credit
related contingent items.

Standard - there is a very high likelihood of the asset being recovered and
therefore, represents low risk to the Bank.

Sub-standard – inadequately protected by the paying capacity of the obligor
or possibility that the Bank will sustain some loss if the deficiencies are not
corrected.

Doubtful – highly vulnerable credit position

Loss – already in default or expected to be in default

The Bank manages the credit quality of financial assets using internal credit ratings. The Bank estimates
the probability of default through its risk grading system which employs a ten-grade scale. The credit
worthiness is measured in descending order, with ‘1’ having the least probability of default and ’10’ having
the highest probability of default.

The Bank utilizes both quantitative and qualitative assessment of the credit risks in order to approximate
the probability of default of a given counterparty. The ten grade scale system is by design aligned with
External Credit Assessment Institutions (ECAI) own credit rating schematics in order to simplify and
streamline the process. This also allows for direct comparisons or translations to be made from an ECAI’s
rating into the Bank’s internal rating scale. All of the Bank's assets fall under Standard grade, except for
those disclosed as impaired in the above table.

The following table shows the relationship between Bank’s internal rating system and ECAI’s (i.e. Moody's
and S&P) ratings.

Categories as per CBB guidelines
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

a) Credit risk (continued)

Geographical region

North Rest of 
America Europe GCC the world Total
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Balances with banks and financial
institutions 12,652       1,062          619             5              14,338     

Placements with financial institutions                -   2,791          29,593                     -   32,384     
Trading securities                -                   -   409                          -   409          
Loans and advances                -   89,060        7,790          1,158       98,008     
Available-for-sale investments 11,541       2,791          237             2,601       17,170     
Held-to-maturity investments                -   240                             -   4,388       4,628       
Other assets                -   669             1,461          117          2,247       

Total 24,193       96,613        40,109        8,269       169,184   

Off-balance sheet items 3,286         2,396          2,736          767          9,185       

North Rest of 
America Europe GCC the world Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Balances with banks and financial
institutions 728            906             623             61            2,318       

Placements with financial institutions                -                   -   4,000                       -   4,000       
Trading securities                -                   -   437                          -   437          
Loans and advances                -   13,159        7,797                       -   20,956     
Available-for-sale investments 14,144       4,370          237             2,793       21,544     
Held-to-maturity investments                -   236                             -   4,388       4,624       
Other assets                -   169             689                          -   858          

Total 14,872       18,840        13,783        7,242       54,737     

Off-balance sheet items 2,642         2,433          2,736          2,680       10,491     

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2012

31 December 2013
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

a) Credit risk (continued)

Geographical region

North Rest of 
America Europe GCC the world Total
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Balances with banks and financial
institutions 12,652       1,062          619             5              14,338     

Placements with financial institutions                -   2,791          29,593                     -   32,384     
Trading securities                -                   -   409                          -   409          
Loans and advances                -   89,060        7,790          1,158       98,008     
Available-for-sale investments 11,541       2,791          237             2,601       17,170     
Held-to-maturity investments                -   240                             -   4,388       4,628       
Other assets                -   669             1,461          117          2,247       

Total 24,193       96,613        40,109        8,269       169,184   

Off-balance sheet items 3,286         2,396          2,736          767          9,185       

North Rest of 
America Europe GCC the world Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Balances with banks and financial
institutions 728            906             623             61            2,318       

Placements with financial institutions                -                   -   4,000                       -   4,000       
Trading securities                -                   -   437                          -   437          
Loans and advances                -   13,159        7,797                       -   20,956     
Available-for-sale investments 14,144       4,370          237             2,793       21,544     
Held-to-maturity investments                -   236                             -   4,388       4,624       
Other assets                -   169             689                          -   858          

Total 14,872       18,840        13,783        7,242       54,737     

Off-balance sheet items 2,642         2,433          2,736          2,680       10,491     

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2012

31 December 2013
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

a) Credit risk (continued)

Industry sector

Banking Technology
/ Finance Government / Telecoms Others Total
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Assets
Balances with banks and

financial institutions 14,338                       -                   -                -   14,338     
Placements with financial institutions 32,384                       -                   -                -   32,384     
Trading securities 409                            -                   -                -   409          
Loans and advances 89,060       1,158                          -   7,790       98,008     
Available-for-sale investments                -                   -   1,180          15,990     17,170     
Held-to-maturity investments                -             4,388                 -   240          4,628       
Other assets 1,441         117                             -   689          2,247       

Total 137,632     5,663          1,180          24,709     169,184   

Off-balance sheet items -             -             116             9,069       9,185       

Banking Technology

/ Finance Government / Telecoms Others Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Assets
Balances with banks and

financial institutions 2,318                         -                   -                -   2,318       
Placements with financial

institutions 4,000                         -                   -                -   4,000       
Trading securities 434                            -                   -   3              437          
Loans and advances 13,159                       -                   -   7,797       20,956     
Available-for-sale investments                -                   -   1,976          19,568     21,544     
Held-to-maturity investments                -   4,388                          -   236          4,624       
Other assets 149            118                             -   591          858          

Total assets 20,060       4,506          1,976          28,195     54,737     

Off-balance sheet items 1,453                         -   120             8,918       10,491     

31 December 2013

31 December 2012
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

a) Credit risk (continued)

Industry sector

Banking Technology
/ Finance Government / Telecoms Others Total
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Assets
Balances with banks and

financial institutions 14,338                       -                   -                -   14,338     
Placements with financial institutions 32,384                       -                   -                -   32,384     
Trading securities 409                            -                   -                -   409          
Loans and advances 89,060       1,158                          -   7,790       98,008     
Available-for-sale investments                -                   -   1,180          15,990     17,170     
Held-to-maturity investments                -             4,388                 -   240          4,628       
Other assets 1,441         117                             -   689          2,247       

Total 137,632     5,663          1,180          24,709     169,184   

Off-balance sheet items -             -             116             9,069       9,185       

Banking Technology

/ Finance Government / Telecoms Others Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Assets
Balances with banks and

financial institutions 2,318                         -                   -                -   2,318       
Placements with financial

institutions 4,000                         -                   -                -   4,000       
Trading securities 434                            -                   -   3              437          
Loans and advances 13,159                       -                   -   7,797       20,956     
Available-for-sale investments                -                   -   1,976          19,568     21,544     
Held-to-maturity investments                -   4,388                          -   236          4,624       
Other assets 149            118                             -   591          858          

Total assets 20,060       4,506          1,976          28,195     54,737     

Off-balance sheet items 1,453                         -   120             8,918       10,491     

31 December 2013

31 December 2012

______________________________________________________________________________________
30



Bahrain Middle East Bank (B.S.C.) | ANNUAL REPORT 201358

Bahrain Middle East Bank (B.S.C.)
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

b) Market risk

i) Interest rate risk

ii) Currency risk

2013 2012
Currency US$ '000 US$ '000

Euro 166           279           
Great Britain Pound 31             35             

197           314           

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Market risk is defined as potential adverse changes in the fair value or future cash flows of a trading
position or portfolio of financial instruments resulting from the movement of market variables, such as
interest rates, currency rates, equity and commodity prices, market indices as well as volatilities and
correlations between markets.

Sensitivity to net profit  
and equity

All of the Group’s interest earning assets and interest bearing liabilities carry fixed rates of interest, hence,
there is no sensitivity to interest rate risk.

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. Majority of the Group's assets and liabilities are denominated in US dollar, Qatari Riyal,
Bahraini Dinar, Euro and Great Britain Pound. As the Qatari Riyal and Bahraini Dinar are pegged to the US
dollar, there is minimal sensitivity to currency risk.

The table below shows the sensitivity to the Group's net profit and equity for a movement of +5% in Euro
and Great Britain Pound against the US$, with all other variables held constant. An equivalent decrease in
each of these currencies against the US$ would result in an equivalent but opposite impact.

The principal market related risks to which the Group is exposed are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk
and equity price risk.

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will affect the future cash flows or the fair
values of financial instruments. The Group closely monitors interest rate movements, and seeks to limit its
exposure to such movements by managing the interest rate repricing structure of its assets and liabilities.
The Group actively manages its interest rate repricing gap exposure, with a bias towards fixed rates and
with exposure limits that are approved by the Board of Directors. The Group does not typically take interest
rate trading positions and all its interest rate risk is typically in the banking book. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

b) Market risk (continued)

iii) Equity price risk

2013 2012
Indices US$ '000 US$ '000

Kuwait stock exchange 20                           -   
Muscat securities market               -   22             

20             22             

Market risk capital charge

At 31 
December 

2013 Maximum Minimum
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Equity price risk capital 75                78             -            
Currency risk capital 376              1,111        376           
Interest rate risk capital -               342           -            

Total 451              

Capital requirement

The capital requirement for market risk using the Standardised Approach as at 31 December 2013 was as
follows:

A change of +10% in the carrying value of available-for-sale investments as at 31 December 2013, with all
other variables held constant, would result an increase in comprehensive income and equity by US$ 1.7
million (2012: US$ 2.2 million). An equivalent decrease would result in an equivalent but opposite impact.

Private equity risk is the risk that the Bank will not be able to sell its investments at a profit within the
intended time period, which might be due to the investment itself, macro trends in markets for IPO’s and
mergers and acquisition activity.

The Group manages risks at the specific investment level by (i) investing primarily through managed third
party funds whose managers have a demonstrated successful track record, by diversifying its investments
across (ii) fund managers, (iii) different stages in the investment cycle (various stages of venture capital,
buy-out, etc.), and (iv) geographical locations and industries.

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities and unquoted equity funds decreases as the result
of changes in the level of equity indices or individual stocks. The Group is exposed to equity price risk on its
trading securities and available-for-sale investments.

The Group's exposure to trading securities represent investments listed on stock exchanges. The following
table depicts the sensitivity to the Group’s net profit and equity for a movement of +5% in the indices, with
all other variables held constant. An equivalent decrease would result in an equivalent but opposite impact.

Sensitivity to net profit  
and equity

The Group's exposure to available-for-sale investments represents investments in unquoted equity funds
and strategic investments.
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

c) Liquidity risk

Up to 3 
months

> 3 months 
up to 6 
months

> 6 
months 
up to 12 
months

> 1 year 
up to 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Total

Assets
Balances with banks and

financial institutions 14,338                   -                 -                 -              -   14,338     
Placements with financial

institutions 23,634    5,750         3,000                     -              -   32,384     
Trading securities 409                        -                 -                 -              -   409          
Loans and advances 60,699    31,220                     -   6,089                   -   98,008     
Available-for-sale investments 517         7,485         9,168                     -              -   17,170     
Held-to-maturity investments*             -                  -                 -                 -   4,628     4,628       
Other assets 2,013      403                          -   148                      -   2,564       

Total assets 101,610  44,858       12,168     6,237        4,628     169,501   

Liabilities
Deposits from financial

institution 229         124,722                   -                 -              -   124,951   
Deposits from customers 2,010                     -   8,186                     -              -   10,196     
Borrowings 3,000      2,000                       -                 -              -   5,000       
Other liabilities 542         116                          -                 -              -   658          

Total liabilities 5,781      126,838     8,186                     -              -   140,805   

Net liquidity gap 95,829    (81,980)      3,982       6,237        4,628     

Cumulative liquidity gap 95,829    13,849       17,831     24,068      28,696   

* Held-to-maturity investments mature in 2028.

US$ '000

31 December 2013

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The table below presents the maturity profile of the Group's assets and liabilities based on remaining
expected maturities:

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset (“liability liquidity risk”). It
also represents the risk that the Bank will be unable to realize its assets in a timely fashion for prices close
to their carrying values.

In its investing activities, the Bank seeks to diversify its assets across instruments and markets and to
avoid obligor concentrations. This is particularly the case for investments in unlisted private equity funds
where the Bank has consciously implemented a strategy of reducing the Bank’s average individual
investment size.

Liquidity is managed on a daily basis and senior management closely monitors significant daily changes to
the liquidity position. In evaluating the liquidity position, the Bank also takes into account the possible call of
un-drawn commitments on its investment portfolio.
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Up to 3 
months

> 3 months 
up to 6 
months

> 6 
months up 

to 12 
months

> 1 year up 
to 5 years

Over 5 
years

Total

Assets
Balances with banks and

financial institutions 2,318                     -                 -                 -              -   2,318       
Placements with financial

institutions 4,000                     -                 -                 -              -   4,000       
Trading securities 437                        -                 -                 -              -   437          
Loans and advances 8,773      4,386                       -   7,797                   -   20,956     
Available-for-sale investments             -                  -   5,859       15,685                 -   21,544     
Held-to-maturity investments*             -                  -                 -                 -   4,624     4,624       
Other assets 1,199                     -                 -   187                      -   1,386       

Total assets 16,727    4,386         5,859       23,669      4,624     55,265     

Liabilities
Deposits from financial

institution 6,000                     -                 -                 -              -   6,000       
Deposits from customers 1,715                     -                 -   3,374                   -   5,089       
Borrowings 1,389                     -                 -   10,000                 -   11,389     
Other liabilities 1,914      428                          -   -                       -   2,342       

Total liabilities 11,018    428                          -   13,374                 -   24,820     

Net liquidity gap 5,709      3,958         5,859       10,295      4,624     30,445     

Cumulative liquidity gap 5,709      9,667         15,526     25,821      30,445   

* Held-to-maturity investments mature in 2028.

Contractual maturity of financial liabilities on an undiscounted basis

Up to 3 
months

> 3 months 
up to 6 
months

> 6 
months 
up to 12 
months

> 1 year 
up to 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Total

Liabilities
Deposits from financial

institution 229         125,028                   -                 -              -   125,257   
Deposits from customers 2,012                     -   8,215                     -              -   10,227     
Borrowings 3,031      2,007                       -                 -              -   5,038       
Other liabilities 300                        -                 -                 -              -   300          

Total undiscounted 
financial liabilities 5,572      127,035     8,215                     -              -   140,822   

US$ '000

31 December 2013

US$ '000

31 December 2012

The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Group relating to its financial liabilities upon their
respective earliest contractual maturities at the balance sheet date. The amounts disclosed in the table are
the contractual undiscounted cash flows (i.e. nominal plus interest) determined by using the forward yield
curve for the relevant periods.
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Up to 3 
months

> 3 months 
up to 6 
months

> 6 
months up 

to 12 
months

> 1 year up 
to 5 years

Over 5 
years

Total

Assets
Balances with banks and

financial institutions 2,318                     -                 -                 -              -   2,318       
Placements with financial

institutions 4,000                     -                 -                 -              -   4,000       
Trading securities 437                        -                 -                 -              -   437          
Loans and advances 8,773      4,386                       -   7,797                   -   20,956     
Available-for-sale investments             -                  -   5,859       15,685                 -   21,544     
Held-to-maturity investments*             -                  -                 -                 -   4,624     4,624       
Other assets 1,199                     -                 -   187                      -   1,386       

Total assets 16,727    4,386         5,859       23,669      4,624     55,265     

Liabilities
Deposits from financial

institution 6,000                     -                 -                 -              -   6,000       
Deposits from customers 1,715                     -                 -   3,374                   -   5,089       
Borrowings 1,389                     -                 -   10,000                 -   11,389     
Other liabilities 1,914      428                          -   -                       -   2,342       

Total liabilities 11,018    428                          -   13,374                 -   24,820     

Net liquidity gap 5,709      3,958         5,859       10,295      4,624     30,445     

Cumulative liquidity gap 5,709      9,667         15,526     25,821      30,445   

* Held-to-maturity investments mature in 2028.

Contractual maturity of financial liabilities on an undiscounted basis

Up to 3 
months

> 3 months 
up to 6 
months

> 6 
months 
up to 12 
months

> 1 year 
up to 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Total

Liabilities
Deposits from financial

institution 229         125,028                   -                 -              -   125,257   
Deposits from customers 2,012                     -   8,215                     -              -   10,227     
Borrowings 3,031      2,007                       -                 -              -   5,038       
Other liabilities 300                        -                 -                 -              -   300          

Total undiscounted 
financial liabilities 5,572      127,035     8,215                     -              -   140,822   

US$ '000

31 December 2013

US$ '000

31 December 2012

The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Group relating to its financial liabilities upon their
respective earliest contractual maturities at the balance sheet date. The amounts disclosed in the table are
the contractual undiscounted cash flows (i.e. nominal plus interest) determined by using the forward yield
curve for the relevant periods.
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Up to 3 
months

> 3 months 
up to 6 
months

> 6 
months up 

to 12 
months

> 1 year up 
to 5 years

Over 5 
years

Total

Assets
Balances with banks and

financial institutions 2,318                     -                 -                 -              -   2,318       
Placements with financial

institutions 4,000                     -                 -                 -              -   4,000       
Trading securities 437                        -                 -                 -              -   437          
Loans and advances 8,773      4,386                       -   7,797                   -   20,956     
Available-for-sale investments             -                  -   5,859       15,685                 -   21,544     
Held-to-maturity investments*             -                  -                 -                 -   4,624     4,624       
Other assets 1,199                     -                 -   187                      -   1,386       

Total assets 16,727    4,386         5,859       23,669      4,624     55,265     

Liabilities
Deposits from financial

institution 6,000                     -                 -                 -              -   6,000       
Deposits from customers 1,715                     -                 -   3,374                   -   5,089       
Borrowings 1,389                     -                 -   10,000                 -   11,389     
Other liabilities 1,914      428                          -   -                       -   2,342       

Total liabilities 11,018    428                          -   13,374                 -   24,820     

Net liquidity gap 5,709      3,958         5,859       10,295      4,624     30,445     

Cumulative liquidity gap 5,709      9,667         15,526     25,821      30,445   

* Held-to-maturity investments mature in 2028.

Contractual maturity of financial liabilities on an undiscounted basis

Up to 3 
months

> 3 months 
up to 6 
months

> 6 
months 
up to 12 
months

> 1 year 
up to 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Total

Liabilities
Deposits from financial

institution 229         125,028                   -                 -              -   125,257   
Deposits from customers 2,012                     -   8,215                     -              -   10,227     
Borrowings 3,031      2,007                       -                 -              -   5,038       
Other liabilities 300                        -                 -                 -              -   300          

Total undiscounted 
financial liabilities 5,572      127,035     8,215                     -              -   140,822   

US$ '000

31 December 2013

US$ '000

31 December 2012

The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Group relating to its financial liabilities upon their
respective earliest contractual maturities at the balance sheet date. The amounts disclosed in the table are
the contractual undiscounted cash flows (i.e. nominal plus interest) determined by using the forward yield
curve for the relevant periods.
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Up to 3 
months

> 3 months 
up to 6 
months

> 6 
months up 

to 12 
months

> 1 year up 
to 5 years

Over 5 
years

Total

Liabilities
Deposits from financial

institution 6,084                     -                 -                 -              -   6,084       
Deposits from customers 1,716                     -                 -   3,376                   -   5,092       
Borrowings 2,482                     -   613          11,516                 -   14,611     
Other liabilities 1,839                     -                 -                 -              -   1,839       

Total undiscounted 
financial liabilities 12,121                   -   613          14,892                 -   27,626     

d) Operating and legal risk

US$ '000

31 December 2012

To further mitigate operational and legal risks, the Bank purchases a variety of insurance.

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and
systems or from external events.

Currently, the Bank conducts its business from a single location. The Bank does not operate a retail
banking franchise. Accordingly, the number of client relationships and volume of transactions at the Bank
are lower than at such retail institutions. These factors mitigate to some extent the operational risks to
which the Bank is exposed, both in terms of volumes of transactions and the liquidity of the assets
underlying these transactions (e.g. the Bank does not offer cash deposit/withdrawal services, ATMs, credit
cards, etc.).

The Bank's operations are conducted according to well-defined procedures. These procedures include a
comprehensive system of internal controls, including segregation of duties and other internal checks, which
are designed to prevent either inadvertent staff errors or malfeasance prior to the release of a transaction.

Legal risk includes the risk of non-compliance with applicable laws or regulations, the illegality or
unenforceability of counterparty obligations under contracts and additional unintended exposure or liability
resulting from the failure to structure transactions or contracts properly. Legal risks are mitigated through
legal counsel review of transactions and documentation, as appropriate. Where possible, the Bank uses
standard formats for transaction documentation.

To protect the Bank from involvement in money laundering or terrorist finance activities, the Bank has
implemented a comprehensive set of policies and procedures. Adherence to the Bank’s policies and
procedures is reinforced through periodic staff training and internal and external reviews, as well as internal
and external review by auditors.
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Up to 3 
months

> 3 months 
up to 6 
months

> 6 
months up 

to 12 
months

> 1 year up 
to 5 years

Over 5 
years

Total

Liabilities
Deposits from financial

institution 6,084                     -                 -                 -              -   6,084       
Deposits from customers 1,716                     -                 -   3,376                   -   5,092       
Borrowings 2,482                     -   613          11,516                 -   14,611     
Other liabilities 1,839                     -                 -                 -              -   1,839       

Total undiscounted 
financial liabilities 12,121                   -   613          14,892                 -   27,626     

d) Operating and legal risk

US$ '000

31 December 2012

To further mitigate operational and legal risks, the Bank purchases a variety of insurance.

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and
systems or from external events.

Currently, the Bank conducts its business from a single location. The Bank does not operate a retail
banking franchise. Accordingly, the number of client relationships and volume of transactions at the Bank
are lower than at such retail institutions. These factors mitigate to some extent the operational risks to
which the Bank is exposed, both in terms of volumes of transactions and the liquidity of the assets
underlying these transactions (e.g. the Bank does not offer cash deposit/withdrawal services, ATMs, credit
cards, etc.).

The Bank's operations are conducted according to well-defined procedures. These procedures include a
comprehensive system of internal controls, including segregation of duties and other internal checks, which
are designed to prevent either inadvertent staff errors or malfeasance prior to the release of a transaction.

Legal risk includes the risk of non-compliance with applicable laws or regulations, the illegality or
unenforceability of counterparty obligations under contracts and additional unintended exposure or liability
resulting from the failure to structure transactions or contracts properly. Legal risks are mitigated through
legal counsel review of transactions and documentation, as appropriate. Where possible, the Bank uses
standard formats for transaction documentation.

To protect the Bank from involvement in money laundering or terrorist finance activities, the Bank has
implemented a comprehensive set of policies and procedures. Adherence to the Bank’s policies and
procedures is reinforced through periodic staff training and internal and external reviews, as well as internal
and external review by auditors.
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29 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

2013 2012
US$ '000 US$ '000

Undrawn investment commitments in equity funds 6,449        6,302        
Other commitments 2,736        2,736        
Funds under management 18,356      76,495      
Letters of credit and guarantee               -   1,453        

Funds under management include BMB Technology and Telecommunications Investment Company (under
liquidation), a US focused venture capital fund of funds, customer sub-participations in private equity funds
managed by the Bank and other client funds managed on a discretionary basis.

Undrawn investment commitments comprise contractual commitments to investments made in equity
funds. These amounts are called by fund managers, generally for a period of between four and six years.

The outstanding commitments and contingent liabilities at 31 December were as follows:

At 31 December 2013, the Bank had undrawn investment commitments to private equity funds of US$ 6.5
million (31 December 2012: US$ 6.3 million). Of these, the Group’s proprietary commitments amounted to
US$ 3.4 million (31 December 2012: US$ 3.2 million) and the balance relates to co-investors of the Bank
who sub-participate along with the Bank. The Bank has segregated these funds and placed them with a
third party retail Bank for the purposes of honoring investment commitments as and when they fall due.

Commitments to extend credit represent contractual commitments to make loans and revolving credits.
Commitments generally have fixed dates or other termination clauses and require the payment of a fee.
Since commitments may expire without being drawn upon, the total contract amounts do not necessarily
represent future cash requirements.

Standby letters of credit, guarantees and acceptances commit the Bank to make payments on behalf of
customers contingent upon the failure of the customer to perform under the terms of the contract.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These include commitments to extend credit and to participate in investments, standby letters of credit,
guarantees and acceptances which are designed to meet the requirements of the Bank’s customers.

Other commitments represent unclaimed dividend amounts written back by the Bank in 2011. However, as
per regulatory requirements, these amounts have been disclosed as a contingent item.

The Group is engaged in litigation cases involving claims made by and against the Group relating to its ex-
employees. The Board, after reviewing the claims pending against the Group and based on the advice of
the relevant professional legal advisors, are satisfied that the outcome of these claims will not have a
material adverse effect on the financial position of the Group.
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30 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Carrying 
value Fair value

Under 
carrying 

value
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Assets
Held-to-maturity investments 4,628          3,763        (865)          
Loans and advances 98,008        98,008                     -   

Net shortfall of fair value over carrying value (865)          

Carrying 
value Fair value

Under 
carrying 

value
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Assets
Held-to-maturity investments 4,624          4,197        (427)          
Loans and advances 21,168        21,168                     -   

Net shortfall of fair value over carrying value (427)          

The total shortfall in fair value of US$ 865 thousand (2012: US$ 427 thousand) is not relevant except in a
forced sale situation since the Bank has the intention to hold these held-to-maturity investment securities
until maturity when it would recover full nominal amounts.

The table below compares the estimated fair values of financial assets in the statement of financial position
and credit related contingent items with their respective carrying amounts as of 31 December 2013 and
2012. As set out in Note 3 to the financial statements, certain of the Bank’s financial instruments are
accounted for under the historical cost convention except for the measurement at fair value of certain
available-for-sale investments and trading securities which may differ from the fair value for which the asset
could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length
transaction. Consequently differences may arise between the carrying amounts and the fair value
estimates.

2013

2012

The total fair value of held-to-maturity investment securities is based on quoted market prices at the
reporting date. The fair value of loans and advances is based on amounts estimated to be received upon
maturity.

The fair value of the loans and advances is shown at amortised cost, which approximates the value
calculated using the discounted cash flow method.

No fair value adjustment is appropriate for off-balance sheet financial instruments with contractual amounts
representing credit risk as specific provisions are made in respect of individual transactions where a
potential loss, if any, has been identified.
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30 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Trading securities            409                  -                 -               409 
Available-for-sale investments

- Unquoted equity fund investments               -                    -         16,491        16,491 
- Strategic investments               -                    -              679             679 

Total            409                  -         17,170        17,579 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Trading securities            437                  -                 -               437 
Available-for-sale investments

- Unquoted equity fund investments               -                    -         21,500        21,500 
- Strategic investments               -                    -                38               38 
- Quoted equity                6                  -                 -                   6 

Total 443                           -   21,538      21,981      

The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments measured at fair value by level of the fair
value hierarchy:

31 December 2013

31 December 2012

IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation
techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from
independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the Group's market assumptions. These two types of
inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly or indirectly. This category
includes instruments valued using quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments, quoted
prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active or other valuation
techniques where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.

Level 3 - Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all instruments
where the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs
have a significant effect on the instrument's valuation (i.e. net asset value received from administrator /
fund managers).

This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Group considers relevant
and observable market prices in its valuations where possible.
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30 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Trading securities            409                  -                 -               409 
Available-for-sale investments

- Unquoted equity fund investments               -                    -         16,491        16,491 
- Strategic investments               -                    -              679             679 

Total            409                  -         17,170        17,579 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Trading securities            437                  -                 -               437 
Available-for-sale investments

- Unquoted equity fund investments               -                    -         21,500        21,500 
- Strategic investments               -                    -                38               38 
- Quoted equity                6                  -                 -                   6 

Total 443                           -   21,538      21,981      

The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments measured at fair value by level of the fair
value hierarchy:

31 December 2013

31 December 2012

IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation
techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from
independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the Group's market assumptions. These two types of
inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly or indirectly. This category
includes instruments valued using quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments, quoted
prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active or other valuation
techniques where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.

Level 3 - Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all instruments
where the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs
have a significant effect on the instrument's valuation (i.e. net asset value received from administrator /
fund managers).

This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Group considers relevant
and observable market prices in its valuations where possible.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

2013 2012
US$ '000 US$ '000

At 1 January       21,538        25,138 
Net fair value movement on available-for-sale investments        (1,056)           (241)
Additions         4,025          1,060 
Exits (at cost)        (3,373)        (3,189)
Fair value transferred to statement of income on disposals / impairment        (3,964)        (1,230)

At 31 December 17,170      21,538      

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Total fair 

values 

Total 
carrying 
amount

Assets
Balances with banks and 

financial institutions       14,338               -                    -         14,338        14,338 
Placements with financial institutions       32,384               -                    -         32,384        32,384 
Loans and advances               -                 -            98,008       98,008        98,008 
Held-to-maturity investments         3,763               -                    -           3,763          4,628 
Other assets               -                 -              2,247         2,247          2,247 

Liabilities 
Deposits from financial institution     124,951               -                    -       124,951      124,951 
Deposits from customers               -                 -            10,196       10,196        10,196 
Borrowings               -                 -              5,000         5,000          5,000 
Other liabilities               -                 -                 300            300             300 

31 COMPARATIVES

Level 3 available-for-sale investments represent private equity funds where the underlying fund managers
exercise judgments in valuation of investments. There have been no transfers in/out of level 3.

Movements in level 3 investments measured at fair value is as follows:

During the reporting year ended 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012, there were no transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value
measurements.

The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments not measured at fair value by level of the fair
value hierarchy:

US$'00031 December 2013

During the year, the Group has regrouped certain items in the consolidated financial statements to improve
presentation. Such regrouping did not have any impact on net equity or profit or loss of the Group
previously reported.
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